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Historical Financial Trends

Following our |IPO in 2015, 2016 was another
transformational year for the Group and the

Board is delighted to announce another set of
record results

Revenue £m Gross Profit £m

Underiying Profit Before Tax® £m Net Assets £m

* underlying profit before tax is presented ex-
cluding non-underlying ilems {see Note 5) H
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% 2016
Manufacturer
Market
Share

Retail Franchised Dealerships

[ Beckenham & Bromley, Bexley,
Coulsdon, Exeter, Newbury, Oxford,
| Plymouth, Taunton and Wimbledon

Bournemouth, Grimsby {with Motorrad),
Hook, Salisbury and Scunthorpe

Cambridge

Bury St Edmunds, Cambridge
and Kings Lynn

r Harrogate, Hull, North Leicester,
Scuth Leicester, Peterborough,
| Scarberough and York

Cambndge

Cambridge, lpswich, Lincoln,
South Oxford and Peterborough

Ipswich, Scunthcrpe

[ Bedford, Cambridge, Ipswich,
Lincoln, Mehton Mowbray,
L South Oxford and Peterborough

Oxford and Peterborough
L
Blackburn, Blackpool, Bolton, Chichester,

Portsmouth, Preston, Southampion,
L South Lakes and Winchester

Bournemouth, Gnmsby,
Hook and Salisbury

Boston, Grantham
and Lincoin

Cambridge, Peterborough
ang 5t Neots

Braintree, Cambridge
and Leicester

Barnstaple, Croydon, Newbury,
i Oxford and Reading

Blackpool, Balton, Portsmouth
and Southampton

r Ipswich, Knebwarth, Leicester,
Peterborough and Welwyn
| Garden City

Barnstaple, Grimsby, Newbury, North Oxford,
South Oxford, Reading, Scunthorpe and Taunton

r Bishops Stortford, Cambridge, Grantham,
Milton Keynes, Noningham, Peterborough,
| and Welwyn Garden City

Cambridge

Poole and Southampton

Bridgwater, Oxford, Reading
a

{
\:Andover‘ Fareham,
i: nd Scunthorpe

Exeter, Mitcham, Old Kent Road / Dartford,
Oxford and Swindon

Cambridge, Grimsby, Pelerborough Bodyshops:
Triangle Sprays Newbury and Greenham Prep Ceantre

Huntingdon

Sydenham

Cambridge, Newbury, Oxford

| and Portsmouth

Halesworth Jaguar Land Rover
Approved Repairer

L

Croydon Service Centre




Franchised Dealerships
at 31 December 2016

83.9%

brand coverage

Marshall Motor Holdings is the 7th largest motor
dealer group in the UK, representing 24 brand
partners across 25 counties.

In addition, the Group operates a number of
aftersales and used car operations.



STRATEGIC REPORT

Chairman’s Statement

Peter Johnson
Chairman

“The acquisition of
Ridgeway was a unique
opportunity for
significant growth with
our existing brand
partners.”

“underlying profit before tax is presented
excluding non-underlying items (as set out in
Note 5)

~*2015 comparative calculated utilising 2016
weighted average number of shares in issue

**excluding assetf-backed leasing loans (see
page 54)

Introduction

| am delighted to present our Annual
Report & Accounts for the year ended
31 December 2016 (the “Year.
Following our successful admission to the
AIM market of the London Stock
Exchange in April 2015 ("Admission”),
2016 was another excellent year for the
Group. As a result of acquisition and
continued organic growth, we are now the
7th largest dealer group in the UK and are
weil positioned to take advantage of
further opportunities in the future.

Strategy

During the Year we remained focused on
our vision to become the UK's premier
automotive retail and leasing group and
in May 2016 we took a unique opportunity
for significant growth with our existing
brand pariners, completing the £106.9m
strategic  acquisition of Ridgeway
Garages (Newbury) Limited
("Ridgeway"}. The addition of Ridgeway's
30 franchises extended the Group's
footprint into new and attractive
geographical territories and greatly
increased our scale with key brand
partners.

Results
The Group has delivered another record
year:

+ 54.1% revenue growth.
+  60.4% underiving PBT growth™.

+ Basic eamings per share 23.0p
(2015: 19.7p)

*  B66.1% underlying basic earnings per
share growth™.

Adjusted net debt*™ at 31 December
2016 was E34.5m, in line with our
expectations. The Group's balance sheet
remains strong, underpinned by £106.5m
of freehold/long leasehold property.

Dividend

As previously stated, the Board intends
to maintain a progressive dividend policy
where dividends are covered between
4 to 5 times by underlying earnings.
The Board is therefore pleased to
recommend a final dividend of 3.70p per
share which, with the interim dividend of

1.80p per share, gives a totai dividend for
the Year ended 31 December 2016 of
5.50p per share.

If approved by shareholders at our AGM
on 23 May 2017, the final dividend will be
paid on 26 May 2017 to shareholders
who are on the Company's register at
close of business on 21 April 2017.

People and Partnerships

Since Admission, the Group has made
significant progress towards achieving
our vision. This would not be possible
without the continued drive and support
from all our colleagues and business
partners.

The combined strengih of Marshall,
Ridgeway and SGS Heldings Limited
("SGS"} gives us a management team
that augurs well for the future of the
Group.

We continue to enjoy excelient
relationships with our brand partners and
we will work with them as we seek
further growth opportunities.

AGM

Our annual general meeting will be held
on 23 May 2017 and | look forward to
mesting all shareholders who are able to
attend.

Qutlook

Following the UK referendum on EU
membership and the resultant continued
economic uncertainty, the Board remains
cautious on the UK vehicle market in
2017. Our order book for the important
March plate-change period is, however,
encouraging and current trading is in line
with our expectations. Our outiook for the
full year is unchanged.

Finally, 1 would like to thank the Board,
the Executive team, all of our colleagues
and our brand partners for their part in
delivering these excelient results.

Peter Johnson
Chairman
14 March 2017
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Cambridge Jaguar Land Rover Dealership (fong leasehoid)
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Operating Review

Daksh Gupta
Chief Executive Officer

“The strategic
acquisition of
Ridgeway in May
2016 means the
Group is now the 7th
largest dealer group
in the UK.”

“Our retail segment
has reported
significant growth in
underlying PBT,

up 54.1%.”

“Revenue of £1.9bn
was ahead of last
year by 54.1%.”

*like-for-like businesses are defined as
those which traded under fhe Group's
ownership throughout both the entire year
under review and the corresponding
comparative year

Overview

2016 was another transformationa! year
for the Group. Following our admission
to AIM and the acquisition of SGS in
2015, the strategic acquisition of
Ridgeway in May 2016 means we are
now the 7th largest dealer group in the
UK.

| am also very pleased to report ancther
record trading performance during the
Year:

+  Revenue of £1.9bn was ahead of
last year by 54.1% with the Group
also enjoying strong like-for-like™
revenue growth of 10.7%.

+  Underlying PBT at £25.4m was up
60.4% versus 2015.

= Our retail segment achieved
significant growth in underlying PBT,
up 54.1%, driven by a combination of
contributions from the acquisitions of
5G5S and Ridgeway and strong
like-for-like organic growth.

»  Our leasing segment continued to
perform strongly in the Year with PBT
of £4.9m.

UK new car registrations of 2.69m
in 2016 were 2.3% ahead of 2015
{including dealer and self-registrations).
Registrations to retail customers were
down 0.2% in 2016 while fleet/business
sales grew by 4.3%. Against this market
back drop, our new car sales
performance was significantly ahead of
the market, with overall new unit sales
increasing by 39.3%, benefitting from the
Ridgeway acquisition and full year
contribution from SGS. QOur like-for-like
growth in new vehicle unit sales also
outperformed the wider market, up 5.5%.

Following the UK referendum on EU
membership in June 2016, the overall UK
economy has entered a period of
econcmic uncertainty. This was reflected
in a slowing of growth of new car
registrations in the second half of 2016,
increasing by 1.2% (H1: 3.2%). Despite
this, our performance in the second half
of the Year strengthened, with like-for-like

new car sales in the second half of the
Year up 8.1% versus the comparable
period in 2015.

Following five consecutive years of
growth, the latest forecast from the
Society of Motor Manufacturers and
Traders ("SMMT"} for 2017 is for 2.56m
UK new car registrations. Whilst this
would be a decline of 5.0% compared to
2016, it would still represent a historically
strong market; the third highest in history.

The acquisition of Ridgeway extended
the Group's footprint into new and
attractive geographical territories and
has greatly increased the Group’s scale
with key brand partners. The acquisition
added 30 franchises and moved the
Group from 10th to 7th largest dealer
group in the UK.

The Group's strategic vision is to
become the UK’s premier automotive
and leasing group and this remains
central to everything we do. Qur five
strategic pillars which underpin that
vision are class leading returns; putting
our cusiomers first; delivering retailing
excelience for the benefit of our
customers; being people centric by
focusing on employee engagement; and
pursuing strategic growth  both
organically and through targeted
acquisitions in line with the Group's
strategy.

Class leading returns

During the Year, the Group recorded
strong new vehicle revenue growth of
54.2% (13.1% like-for-like) and used
vehicle revenue growth of 56.4% (8.3%
like-for-like).

As a result of the Group’s positive sales
performance in recent years and an
increasing UK vehicle parc, we have
continued to enjoy strong growth in
aftersales and revenue grew by 58.4%
(5.7% like-for-like). We also benefitted
from a number of continuing
management initiatives to improve
productivity and efficiency in our
aftersales operations.



Every January the Group
attends the MAVTAs (Marshall
Achievement Values and
Teamwork Awards) at King's
College, Cambridge.

We recognise colleagues from
across the Group who have
demenstrated their commitment
to living our company values.

Recognising that pecple are
at the heart of our success.

Twice a year the Group runs incentive programs where high performers and colleagues whe live our company values go on an overseas
trip. These pictures are from Tallinn and Cancun where 70 colleagues were winners. (Pictured below - left and middie)

Every year we recognise colleagues who have had long service with the Group with a weekend away with their partners, In June 2016
around 150 colleagues and their partners were invited to the annual ioyalty event at the Beifry Pictured below - ngrt
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The Group's leasing segment continued
to perform strongly during the Year with
PBT of £49m (2015; £4.9m). At
31 December 2016, the leasing fleet was
6,192 vehicles (31 December 2015:
6,029), a growth of 2.7%.

Customer first

The Group continues to enjoy high levels
of customer advocacy. In 2016 43.4% of
41,928 customers surveyed who visited
our showrcoms indicated that they were
either previous customers or were
recommended to us.

Our new website was launched in April
2016 and provides additional content
and functionality to support the customer
journey. The new website is fully
optimised for mobile and tablet
browsers, reflecting the clear move by
consumers from deskiop to mobile and
tablet devices. The Group also acquired
the domain name, “marshall.co.uk”
which has now replaced the
“marshailweb.co.uk”™ URL. The new
domain name is expected to help drive
improved search engine optimisation
and is more customer focused.

Through the integration process we have
included all SGS and Ridgeway
franchises on the new Marshall website.
All acquired sites have also been fully
rebranded as Marshall, increasing the
Group's visibility and presence in the
market place.

Retailing excellence

We continue to utitise technology to drive
efficiencies and Improve the customer
journey. | am pleased to report that
during the second half of the Year we
extended the implementation of our
tablet based enquiry management
system to our acquired businesses. This
system will further facilitate a seamiess
custormer experience and assists
compliance in the marketing and sale of
regulated ancillary products.

During the Year, the second iteration of
the Group's bespoke management
information {‘Mi’) system, Phoenix 2,
was implemented and in the second
half of the Year was rolled out in our

acquired businesses, allowing
management to leverage the benefits
of a significantly increased stock
holding. Phoenix 2 also has a number
of new moduies developed to assist
management operate their respective
areas of responsibility.

Through the Year, we have continued to
rolf out enhanced network services to all
dealerships, providing faster IT networks
and contemporary telephony solutions in
support of enhancing customer
experience,

Finally, we continue to embrace social
media as a means of connecting with
our customers. Marshall is the most
influential dealer group in the UK on
Twitter with ¢.34,000 followers across
our various Twitter accounts. We also
have over 80,000 likes on Facebook,
2.15m YouTube views and over 37,000
likes on Instagram. The Group received
recognition for its focus on social media
and digital initiatives by winning
accolades at  the Automotive
Management awards in February 2017.

People centric

Once again, in recognition of the continued
focus on all aspects of colieague
engagement, we were delighted to be
recognised by The Great Place to Work
Institute, being ranked 1Sth in 2016. This
was the seventh year running we have
been classified as a Great Place to Work
and the second year we have been ranked
inthe top 30, amongst the best companies
inthe UK including Capital One, Cisco UK,
Hyatt and Hilton Hoteis and MBNA.

In May 2016 the Group launched a
number of initiatives to attract new talent
and improve retention of sales executives.
One of these initiatives is to guarantee
sales executive earnings, alongside
retention bonuses, during the first year of
employment 1o reduce colleague turnover
and atiract new talent to the arganisation.
We have also implemented a two week
residential orientation course for new
starters, opened a new Marshall Learning
and Development Academy suite and
increased the number of in-house trainers.
Whilst it is still early days, initial feedback

from these initiatives has been positive
and we are working on similar
improvernents  in our  aftersales
businesses.

Strategic growth

Qur strategy to grow scale with
existing brand partners in new
geographical territories has been
particularly well demanstrated by the
acquisitions of both SGS and
Ridgeway. In both cases the
businesses operated in territories
complementary o our existing
operations and with attractive brands
we already represented. These
acquisitions were made with the full
support of our brand partners and we
will continue to work in partnership with
them to execute our growth strategy
moving forward.

Retail Segment

Overview

During the Year, the refail segment
achieved a record underlying PBT of
£28.9m, a growth of 54,1% versus the
same period last year,

Following the strategic acquisition of
Ridgeway, the retail segment now
consists of 103 franchises representing
24 brand partners trading from 89 sites
in 25 counties. In addition, the Group
operates five trade parts specialists, four
used car centres, five standalone body
shops and one PDI centre. The Group
operates a balanced portfolio of volume,
prestige and alternate premium brands
including all of the top 5 premium
brands. The Group's diverse portfolio
means it represents manufacturer
brands accounting for around 83.5% of
ail new vehicle sales in the UK, This
increased scale and diversified spread
of representation helps mitigate the
effect of the cyclical nature of individual
brand performance.

Integration of acquisitions

The integration of Ridgeway, which was
acquired on 26 May 2016, is progressing
well. The Group's operational, financial
and commercial organisation has been
restructured and key management
information  systems have been



Marshall Motor Holdings plc | Annual Report & Accounts 2016

Marshal! Motor
Holdings was ranked
as the 19th best
(sreat Place to Work
by the Great Place to
Work Institute.

The Group received The acquisition of
recognition for its Ridgeway was in
focus on social media complementary
and digital initiatives at territories to our
the Automotive existing operations.

Management Awards
in February 2017.

Pre Ridgeway

Ridgeway

Combined (see pages 4-5)
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implemented such as Phaenix 2. More
recently, all former Ridgeway and SGS
car franchises have now been
rebranded as "Marshall” and have a
consistent online and social media
strategy. Key supplier reviews have
been carried out with the aim of
harmonising terms and leveraging
potential scale benefits,

The integration of SGS was also
successfully completed during the Year.

The acquired businesses have
contributed PBT of £7.7m during the
Year.

Investment in new retail locations

In addition to the Ridgeway acquisition,
the Group continued its significant
investment in new retail locations with
three key site openings in the Year:

» In October 2016, we completed and
opened a new freehold Jaguar Land
Rover dealership in South Oxford.
This relocation brought together the
existing Land Rover and Jaguar
businesses, which were previously
on separate sites in Oxford, in the
Jaguar Land Rover "Arch” concept.

* In November 2016, we completed
the relocation of Halesworth Land
Rover and lpswich Jaguar o a new
freehold Jaguar Land Rover site in
Ipswich as part of a strategic market
area reorganisation. The Halesworth
site will remain open as an
authorised repair centre.

* In December 2016, we completed
the rebuild of Cambridge Jaguar
Land Rover, Following the purchase
of the long-leasehold interest of the
Jaguar Land Rover site in March
2015, the existing site has been fully
redeveloped to meet the Jaguar
Land Rover ‘“Arch® concept
requirements.

Development of the new freehold Exeter
Audi retail centre, which will be located in
Marsh Barton, one of Eurppe’s largest
motor retail parks, is progressing well and
is expected to open in Q4 2017,

Twelve months ended 31 December 2016 Revenue Gross Profit
£m mix* £m mix

New Car 9833 51.6% 689 325%

Used Car 7183 377% 50.7 239%

Aftersales 2026 107% 923 436%

Internal (44.5)

Total 1,859.7 100.0% 2119 100.0%

Twelve months ended 31 December 2015

New Car
Used Car
Aftersales

Internai

* mix calculation excludes internal sales

Construction of a new long-easehold
Jaguar Land Rover dealership in
Newbury, currently an open peint, also
commenced in the second half of the
Year and is expected to open in
Q4 2017,

We are encouraged by initial customer
feedback for al! our new developments
and following the initial transition, we
expect each to generate additional
revenue and profitability over the
medium to longer term.

Investment in existing businesses

The Group continues to invest in
upgrading existing businesses to
enhance the customer experience, in
line with brand  requirements.
Investments in upgrade  and
refurbishrment during the Year included:

» Croydon Mercedes-Benz
Commercial: extension of aftersales
facility;

+ Bexley Audi: showroom extension

and customer experience
refurbishment;
+ Mellon Mowbray Land Rover:

significant site expansion;

6378 521% 457 336%

4892  37.5% 333 245%
127.8  10.4% 569 41.9%

(29.3)

*  Mercedes-Benz Biackpool, Preston
and South Lakes: aftersales
customer experience refurbishment;

» Bedford Land Rover: new PDI facility
centre opened to support the
planned redevelopment of Bedford
Land Rover;

+  Mercedes-Benz Chichester:
showroom refurbishment.

In October 2016, we also acquired a
bodyshop business in Grimsby to
support our BMW/Mini and Volkswagen
businesses in the area.

Acquisitions

The acquisitions of SGS and Ridgeway
were in ling with our stated strategy to
grow scale with existing brand partners
and extend our geographic footprint into
new regions. This strategy continues. As
with all acquisitions to date, our focus
will remain on ensuring a strong
strategic and financial case for any
opportunity. We have further headroom
to grow with key manufacturing partners
in what we believe will continue to be a
consolidating market.
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Southampton Mercedes-Benz Dealership
{leasehold)

Grimsby BMW Dealership
{freehold)

Cixford Auadr Dealsrship
{freehoid]
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New Vehicles

Total New Units

Growth
2016 2015 Total LFL
48,884 35103 39.3% 5.5%

Buring the Year, the Group cutperformed
the UK market for new car sales,
increasing its new car unit sales by
39.3% (like-for-like 5.5%). This strong
performance was delivered against an
overall year-on-year increase of 2.3% in
new car registrations including
self/dealer registrations, of which the
private registration element of the UK
market decreased by 0.2% with fieet
growing at 4.3%.

Despite tougher market conditions in the
second haif of the Year foliowing the UK
referendum on EU membership, the
Group continued to grow new unit sales,

Used Vehicles

achieving further strong like-for-like
growth in the second half of the Year of
8.1% versus market growth of 1.2%.

Personal Contract Purchase ("PCP")
with  minimal or zero deposit
requirements and affordable monthly
payments continue to be a key driver in
the sales growth, During the Year, over
80% of new vehicle consumer
purchases made on finance from the
Group were made using a PCP product.
The recent strong growth in PCP is
beneficial to the industry due to the
creation of a defined point of
renewal/purchase/replacerment.  The

Group actively manages the renewal
process to ensure customers are
retained within the Group.

PCP can alsoc partially mitigate the
impact of any price increases seen as a
result of a weakening sterling where the
impact on monthly payments is minimal.

Total gross profit from new vehicles
increased by 50.7%.

Total Used Units

Growth
2016 2015 Total LFL
37,787 27699 364% 04%

During the Year, the Group increased its
used car unit sales by 36.4% (like-for-like
0.4%). Used car revenues showed
growth of 56.4% and like-for-tike growth
of 8.3% driven by a strengthening
premium brand mix and higher average
selling prices.

The increase in the Group’s scale and
stock holding following the acquisitions
of 8GS and Ridgeway have allowed the

Aftersales

Group to offer more availability and
choice for customers. The Group's entire
used car stock is visible and available to
all dealerships through the Group's
bespoke M| platform, Phoenix 2.

As we have seen in the new car market,
PCP finance penetration is increasing in
the used car market. During the Year,
over 50% of used vehicles purchased
from the Group on finance were made

using a PCP product, This helps stabilise
and protect residual values which
underpin the PCP financing model as
well as providing further aftersales and
servicing opportunities.

Total gross profit from used vehicles
increased by 52.5%.

Growth

2016 Total LFL

2015

Revenue {£m)

202.6 1278 584% 57%

During the Year, the Group increased

aftersaies revenue by 58.4%
(like-for-like 5.7%).
ARersales involves the servicing,

maintenance and repair of vehicles. In
addition to our franchised dealerships,
the Group now operates five standalone
bodyshops, five trade paris centres and
one PDI centre. Aftersales contributed
43.68% of retail gross profit and,
therefore, makes a significant financial
contribution ta the Group which is
important in the context of a more
cyclical new car market.

The aftersales market is highly
dependent on the UK vehicle parc which
has seen a period of 5 consecutive years
of growth. As such, the UK car parc
currently stands at ¢.34m vehicles,
increasing over recent years as a result
of the strong new car market.

As well as supporting new and used car
sales, PCP also aids customer retention
in aftersales. Vehicles sold on finance
are frequently sold with service plans
which allow customers to plan and
budget for service costs with a higher
level of certainty and ensuring repeat

visits to the dealership. The cycle of
vehicle replacement on PCP builds
customer relations and improves loyalty.

Gross margin at 45.6% has also seen an
improvement, up from 44.5% in the
same period last year, partly attributable

to acquisitions but also further
productivity and efficlency
improvements.
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Oxford Jaguar Land Rover
Dealership (freehold)

South Cxford Volkswagen Dealersivp (freehold)

Peterborough Maserati Dealership
(freehoid)
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Leasing Segment

2016 2015

Additions 2,185 1,771
Disposals 2,022 1,773
Fleet 6,192 8,029

During the Year, the leasing segment
performed strongly with PBT of £4.9m.

The leasing segment continues to focus
on its business-to-business strategy,
providing service-led fleet management,
offering high added value service to
clients. During the Year, the overall fleet
showed steady growth increasing by
2.7%.

Wherever possible, the leasing segment
sources new vehicles and de-fleets end
of lease vehicles via the Group’s retail
segment.

The client base of the leasing segment
remains well diversified and balanced
with no single customer representing
more than 12% of the fleet and with the
top 10 customers accounting for 41% of
the fleet.

Robust risk management and control is
a core discipline of the leasing segment's
business model and the segment
employs sophisticated techniques to
monitor and control residual value risk.
As anticipated there has been some

pressure on disposal profitability during
the Year driven in part by the mix of
vehicies de-fleeting.

The leasing fleet continues to be
financed by asset-backed loans secured
against the vehicles. The net book value
of the fleet at 31 December 2016 was
£69.7m against £64.5m of loans (2015:
£62.5m against £51.4m of loans). These
asset-backed loans are disregarded for
the purposes of our external banking
covenants and internal definitions of net
debt.

We helieve that our prudent approach to
residual value setting in the leasing fleet
provides a sustainable and resili

model for the business. The leasing
segment will, therefore, remain focused
on recruting and retaining clients
through its service-driven offering.

Summary

The Group has produced another set of
record results in the Year, further builging
on our strong historical performance.
2016 was also a strategically important
year for the Group. The acquisition of
Ridgeway, in-line with our growth
strategy and funded from existing
resources, leaves the Group well
positioned for further long term growth.

| would like to take this opportunity to
thank our colleagues, Board members,
brand partners and business suppliers
for their hard work and support during
the Year and | look forward to continuing
to work together in the coming year.

Daksh Gupta
Chief Executive Officer
14 March 2017
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Carmnbridge Ford Vans Dealershp
(freehoid)

Meton Keynes Volvo Dealership
(feasehold)

Croydon Skoda Dealership
(feasehald)
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Financial Review

Mark Raban
Chief Financial Officer

“The strategic SGS
and Ridgeway
acquisitions, together
with continued
like-for-like growth,
have driven
underlying PBT
growth of 60.4%.”

“Following the
Ridgeway
acquisition, the
Group's balance
sheet remains strong.
Net assets per share
of £1.88 were up
11.9% versus last
year.”

Grbup results

Turnover £1.9bn

Group turnover increased by 54.1% to
£1.9bn (2015: £1.2bn) benefiting from
both the first full year contribution from
SGS (acquired on 16 November 2015}
and 7 months contribution from
Ridgeway (acquired on 26 May 2016). in
addition  to  contributions  from
acquisitions, | am delighted to report that
like-for-like revenue also showed strong
growth of 10.7%, with new and used
vehicle sales and aftersales all recording
growth.

Gross margin at 11.6% is 18 basis points
below the same period last year (2015;
11.8%). The Group experienced
underlying margin pressure on both new
and used vehicles which was partly
offset by further margin improvement in
aftersales.

Operating expenses of £191.4m were
50.6% higher than the same period last
year, primarily driven by the impact of
acquisitions. Within our retail segment,
operating overheads on a like-for-like
basis grew by 5.2%, significantly below
revenue growth rate.

Underlying PBT at £254m (2015:
£15.8m) was 604% ahead of the
comparable period last year This
significant increase in profitability was
achieved through a combination of both
organic performance improvements and
contributions from acquisitions. $GS and
Ridgeway contributed an underlying
PBT of £7.7m during the Year.

The retail segment showed an
underlying PBT growth of 54.1% which
represented another record year. The
leasing segment delivered PBT of £4.9m
(2015: £4.9m). The used car market
remained robust in the Year and the
leasing segment continued to benefit
from good levels of disposal profitability
despite some anticipated pressure.

The unailocated segment consists
principally of governance, administrative
and asset managerment functions which
are not directly attributable to the Group’s
refail or leasing segments. Undertying
central operating costs of £8.4m were
£0.6m above the same period iast year,
Last year contained a one-off cost of
£0.7m relating to the settliement of historic
long term incentive plan liabitities which
was more than offset by a full year of costs
related to our public company status,
additonal infrastructure investment and
additional interest charges following the
Ridgeway acquisition.

During the Year, the Group incurred a net
charge of £3.2m in respect of
non-underlying items (see Note 5).
These principally related to Ridgeway
transaction costs of £22m,
post-acquisition restructuring costs of
£1.6m and amortisation of £0.8m in
relation to the acquired customer order
book. These costs were partly offset by
profit on disposal of £0.3m in respect of
three dealership disposals (two Toyota
and one Nissan), a £0.3m gain on
termination of interest rate swap
agreements which were acquired with
Ridgeway and a £0.7m gain in relation
to the revaluation of the Group's
investment properties. These items are
presented separately on the face of the
income statement and are excluded from
underlying PBT.

Finance costs and
taxation

Finance costs £6.9m

Finance costs of £6.9m were £4.0m
higher than the same period last year.
This was driven by a number factors,
principally in connection with the
Ridgeway acquisition. The acquisition
was funded by a combination of cash on
the Group's balance sheet {£24.1m as at
31 December 2015), the release of
equity from the Group's previously
unencumbered retail inventory (£49.4m
as at 31 December 2015, the partial
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reiease of equity from the leasing fleet
(£11.1m at 31 December 2015) and the
first time drawing against the Group’s
previously unutilised £120m revolving
credit facility ("RCF”). In addition, the
Group incurred various arrangement
fees and non-utilisation charges in
relation to the RCF.

At 19.9% (20.3% underlying}, the total
effective tax rate was below the 23.8%
reported last year. The lower effective tax
rate is targely driven by the impact of the
UK tax rate change on deferred tax
liapilities which has been adjusted from
19% to 17%.

Acquisitions
Spend (net of cash acquired) £94.5m

Cn 26 May 2016 the Group acquired the
entire issued share capitat of Ridgeway for
£106.9m. The consideration included
approximately £83.6m in respect of net
asegets and £23.4m in respect of goodwill
(after adjusting for deferred tax arising on
IFRS conversion). The net assets included
£53.3m in respect of freehold property

As disclosed at the time of the
acquisition, Ridgeway's consolidated
statutory accounts for the year ended
31 December 2015 included a contingent
liability note in respect of various historic
fim tax planning initiatives. Subsequent
to the Year end, | am pleased fo
announce the Group has reached a full
and final settlement agreement with
HMRC for the sum of £4.2m. This
amount has been included as part of the
fair value exercise as set out in Note 12
and will be paid during the course of
2017 and 2018.

As also disclosed at the time of the
acquisition, Ridgeway had brought a
claim against a bank for the mis-selling
of certain historic interest rate swap
products. | am pleased to report that the
Group has now settled that claim which,
net of costs, gave rise to a one-off gain
of £0.3m.

Adjusted net debt

£54.5m

Following the Ridgeway acquisition, the
Group’s balance sheet remains strong.
The Group has total net assets of
£145.7m (2015 £129.9m) which equates
to £1.88 per share (2015: £1.68).

The Group incurred £28.8m of retail
capital expenditure during the Year
(2015: £2.7m). | am delighted to report
that our three new flagship freehold / long
leasehold Jaguar Land Rover facilities at
Oxford, Ipswich and Cambridge opened
on time and within budget during the final
quarter of the Year

Total inventory at 31 December 2016
was £380.0m (2015: £240.6m) of which
£364.7m was subject to vehicie funding
arrangements (2015:; £186.2m).

Adjusted net debt (excluding leasing
loans) at 31 December 2016 was
£54.5m {2015 net cash £24.1m).
Including a 7 month post-acquisition
contribution  from  Ridgeway, this
represented an adjusted net debt /
EBITDA of 1.4x. On a pro-forma basis,
including a fu! 12 month contribution
from Ridgeway, this represented an
adjusted net debt / EBITDA ratio of 1.2x.

A new £120m three year banking facility
was put in place during May 2016 for
general corperate purposes including
acquisitions  and working  capital
reguirements. The Group is able to
extend the term of the facility by up to
12 months,

The Board continues to believe that it is
the best interest of all stakeholders that
the Group maintains a sound financial
position. In this respect, the Board targets
net bank indebtedness (excluding
leasing segment loans) of not more than
1.25x% net debt/ EBITDA within its future
results. This leverage may rise for a
period of time towards the Group's
banking facility fimit of not more than 3.0x
shoutld an exceptional investment
opportunity arise,

Dividends
5.50p per share

The Board is pleased to recommend a
final dividend of 3.70p (2015: 2.40p) per
share which, together with the interim
dividend of 1.80p (2015: 0.58p) per
share, gives a total dividend for the Year
of 5.50p (2015: 2.98p) per share.

If approved by shareholders, the
dividend will be paid on 26 May 2017 to
shareholders who are on the Company’s
register at close of business on
21 April 2017.

The Board intends to maintain a
progressive gividend policy whereby
dividends are covered between 4 to 5
times underlying earnings and paid in an
approximate one-third {interim dividend)
and two-thirds (final dividend) split.

Mark Raban
Chief Financial Officer
14 March 2017

MDRL
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group faces a range of risks and
uncertainties. The processes that the
Board has established to safeguard both
shareholder value and the assets of the
Group are described in the Corporate
Governance report. Set out below are
the principal risks and uncertainties the
Directors believe could have the most
significant adverse impact on the
Group's business. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not
intended o be an exhaustive list.

ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

A deterioration in the economic conditions
in the UK could result in reduced
consumer confidence and spending,
reduced demand for products and
limitattons on the Group’s ability to
increase or maintain its pricing. In
addition, governments may impose taxes
and implement other measures o
manage the economic conditions in ways
that adversely affect the Group's
business. Any of the foregoing could have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s
prospects, resuits of operations and
financial condition.

The outcome of the referendum on
23 June 2016 regarding the UK's
ongoing membership of the European
Union has given rise to a period of
economic uncertainty and current
industry forecasts are for a decline in the
new vehicle market in the UK where the
Group operates. In additicn, the fall in
the value of Sterling since the
referendum result has impacted the
price of new vehicles which may further
impact consumer demand.

A significant number of vehicles are sold
with financing and, as such, a
detericration of the economic conditions
in the UK or a rise in interest rates could
lead to a reduction in such finance offers
and increased difficulty for customers to
obtain such financing.

VEHICLE MANUFACTURERS

The Group depends on the successfui
performance of its vehicle manufacturer
partners and its continuing relationships
with them. In particular, it relies on the
availability of stock finance facilities
extended by such manufacturers and
other external finance providers. It also
benefits from bonuses paid upon mesting

sales targets and marketing incentives
established by such manufacturers and
external finance providers.

Manufacturers’ performance can be
affected by factors such as general
economic conditions, disruptions to their
business and reputational risks.

The Group's retall business operates
through franchise agreements with
vehicle manufacturers. These franchise
agreements are typically for a length of
between two and five years. At any point
in time, therefore, the Group wilt be in the
process of renewing such agreements,
in common with other franchise
businesses and the wider motor industry.
Manufacturers may refuse to renew or
terminate their franchise agreements
with the Group.

The loss of a major franchise could result
in a significant reduction in profits due to
the inability to source new vehicles to sell
and earn the manufacturer volume
bonuses associated with the targets set
by each manufacturer,

FLUCTUATIONS IN PRICES IN THE
USED CAR MARKET

The Group's financial perfformance may
be affected by fluctuations in prices in
the used car market. Such price
fluctuations could impact its retail
business as, due to the nature of its
operations, the Group maintains a
significant inventory of used vehicles.
Such price fluctuations could also impact
the Group’s leasing business, as it could
affect the residual value of the vehicles
at the end of leasing agreements. The
Group operates a robust independent
analysis tool to monitor this area and
seek to manage any exposure should
the trend analysis predict it.

FUNDING STRUCTURE

Liquidity and Credit — One of the Group's
main sources of cash flows is debt
financing. Although credit availability has
recovered from tighter access conditions
during the past global credit crunch,
a withdrawal of financing facilities or a
failure to renew them as they expire
could stili lead to a significant reduction
in the trading ability of the Group or the
need 1o dispose of assets. The other
main source of funding for the Group’s
operations is manufacturers’ trade credit,

which could also be withdrawn or its
conditions tightened. Should such
manufacturer trade credit be withdrawn
management believe the Group would
be able to access alternative sources of
funding, however, there can be no
guarantee that any alternative sources
of funding could be obtained on similar
terms, therefore this may have an
adverse effect on the Group's financial
performance.

interest rates — Fluctuations in interest
rates could increase the cost of
borrowing for the Group and have a
negative impact on fHs financial
performance. The majority of the
Group's funding including the revolving
credit facilities ("RCF”), asset backed
finance and vehicle financing, are linked
to LIBOR.

Covenants — The Group's funding
agreements contain covenants, the
breach of which may trigger default
provisions and acceleration of the
Group's obligations. For example,
covenants may be breached due to
higher debt servicing costs caused by an
increase in interest rates. Covenants
may also restrict the Group’s business
and funding decisions.

Operating margins — In line with other
businesses in the molor industry, the
Group's operating rmargins may be
considered to be low compared to other
industries. A significant portion of the
Group's operating costs are fixed,
including the costs associated with the
running of its national dealer network.
These fixed costs need to be carefully
controlled in order to ensure the
profitability of the Group and the
Directors believe they have adequate
procedures in place to monitor the
Group’s on going profitability. Were the
Group to experience a downturn in
sales, these high fixed costs could put
pressure on the Group's financial
resources and could have an adverse
effect on the Group's business,
prospects, results of operations and
financial condition.

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP'S
STRATEGY

The Group's strategy focuses on a
combination of organic and acquisitive
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growth. The Group's acquisition sirategy
faces risks in terms of the availability,
quality and price of acquisition targets
and the ability to fund this acquisitive
growth.

Acquisitions involve numerous risks
including potertia! disruption of the
Group's ongoing  business  and
distraction of management, difficulty
integrating the acquired business and
exposure to unknown and/or contingent
or other liabilities arising in connection
with the acquisition. In addition, the
financing of any significant acquisition
may result in changes in the Group's
capital structure, including the incurrence
of additional indebtedness. The Group
may not be successful in addressing
these risks or any other problems
encountered in connection with any
acquisitions.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group is subject to a regulatory
compliance risk which can arise from a
failure to comply fully with the laws,
regulations or codes applicable, for
example, those set out by the Financial
Conduct Authority, Trading Standards,
Vehicle Operators and Services Agency
(VOSA), local authorites and the
manufacturers we represent.
Non-compliance can lead to fines,
enforced suspension from sales of
general insurance products or public
reprimand or, in the extreme, closure of
parts of the business.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group’s operations include the
maintenance and servicing of motor
vehicles which involves both manual
work and the use of industrial
equipment. The Group must therefore
comply with laws and regulations
concerning risk assessmeni, the
management and control of health and
safety risks, the safety of premises,
physical locations, equipment,
processes and systems of work. To
mitigate the risk of breach, and in
addition to its own health and safety
assessments, the Group engages third
parties to undertake regular inspections
of its plant and equipment in accordance
with statutory obligations and to assess
the safety of the Group's working
environments.

ENVIRONMENTAL
The Group must comply with
environmental laws and regulations

concerning emissions, waste and waste
waters (including trade effluent), vehicle
movements, industrial noise, energy
efficiency, the storage of cil and the
control of other hazardous substances.
Any breach of such laws and regulations
couid lead fo fines, penalties and/or
compensation and could 'ead to the
temporary cessation of business
activities at the Group's premises. In
addition to its own internal assessments,
the Group engages third parties to
undertake inspections of its premises to
assess the rsk of breach of
environmental laws and regulations.

In addition, some of the Group's
premises and former premises are
located on land that, because of
contaminants present, may require
remediation under environmental law,
investigation or remediation may be
necessary in the event of the discovery
of contamination in on or under such
premises or in the event of leaks or
discharges of hazardous substances or
other environmental incidents. Such
investigation or remediation could give
rise to unexpected liabilities and costs for
the Group.

COMPETITION

The ‘block exemption’ regufations under
EC law suspend normal competition
rules to allow motor manufacturers and
distributors  to operate specialised
distribution and repair ocutlets. Any
significant change to this position
(including any changes which may occur
as a result of the UK ceasing to be a
member of the European Union) could
have an adverse impact on the Group’s
motor franchise operations,

INFORMATION RISK

The Group is dependent on the efficient
and uninterrupted operation of its
information technology and computer
systems, which are wvulnerable to
damage or interruption from power loss,
telecommunications failures, sabotage,
vandalism or similar misconduct. Whilst
the Group has put in place insurance
cover, and also contingency and disaster
recovery plans, in order to mitigate the
impact of such failures, it can never be
certain that these plans could cover
every eventuality or situation or fully
recompense every loss.

CYBER SECURITY
Whiist the Group does not complete
vehicle sales to customers via the

internet or its websites, it does utilise the
internet anc its websites significantly in
the marketing of its products and
services, particularly used cars. in
common with other businesses, the
Group is therefore at risk of ‘denial of
service' attacks on its websites which
could impact the Group's trading
performance if its websites are affected
for a prolonged period. In addition, the
Group stores certain  customer
information electronically and therefore
faces risks associated with unauthorised
access to that data which could have
reputational and/for regulatory
consequences for the Group. The Group
monitors  its  security policies and
processes in order to mitigate (but can
not eliminate) the risks associated with
cyber security.

STAFF RETENTION

The Group relies on a number of key
employees, both in its management and
its operations, with specialised skills and
extensive experience in their respective
fields. Any failure by the Group to recruit,
replace, retain or motivate suitably
qualified and experienced employees
could impact its growth or its sales
performance, increase its wage costs
and adversely affect its business, results
of operations and financial condition.

This Strategic Report was approved on
behalf of the Board on 14 March 2017,

Mark Raban
Chief Financial Officer

M P KL
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Board of Directors

1. Peter Johnson

Non-Executive Chairman and Chair of the Nominations Committee

Peter has over 45 years’ experience in the automotive sector, spending 40 years in senior roles in retail and distribution
with the Rover group, Marshall and Inchcape plc where he was Chief Executive between 1999 ang 2005. Peter served
on the Bunzl plc board from 2006 to 2015 as its senior independent director and chairman of its remuneration committee.
He aiso chaired Rank pic from 2007 to 2012 and served on the Wates Group Limited board from 2003 to 2013. Peter is
the current chair of the Retail Motor Industry Federation and president of BEN, the Motor and Allied Trades Benevolent
Fund. Peter was a non-executive Director of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited until 2 April 2015.

2. Daksh Gupta

Chief Executive Officer

Daksh has over 25 years' experience in the automotive retail sector and joined the Company in 2008 as its Chief Executive
Officer. Daksh was a franchise director for Inchcape for seven years where he was responsible for the Volkswagen, Audi
and Mercedes-Benz brands. Daksh also served as chief operating officer of Accident Exchange Group plc and prior to
joining the Group was Group Managing Director for Ridgeway Group. Daksh was a director of Marshali of Cambridge
(Holdings} Limited until 2 April 2015 and is vice chairman of the UK automotive industry charity, BEN.

3. Mark Raban

Chief Financial Officer

Mark has 25 years’ of general retail experience, including three as the finance director of Inchcape Retail Limited. He
sperit three years as Chief Financial Officer for the UK and Ireland at Borders Group and was the interim financial director
at Selfridges Retail Limited. Mark has also held senior finance roles at public companies such as Safeway and Burton,
Mark was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 2 April 2615,

4. Alan Ferguson

Senior Independent Director and Chair of the Audit Committee

Alan is a non-executive director of Johnson Matthey pic, Croda International plc and The Weir Group plc. e chairs the
audit committees of each of these companies and is the senior independent director of Johnson Matthey Afan was chief
financial officer and a director of Lonmin ple until Decermnber 2010, prior to which he was Group Finance Director of the
BOC Group plc. Alan spent 22 years in a variety of roles at inchcape ple, including six years as its Group Finance Director
from 1999. Alan is a chartered accountant and sits on the Business Policy Panel of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of Scotland. Alan was appointed to the Board on 11 March 2015.
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5. Sarah Dickins

Non-Executive Director and Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Sarah has over 20 years’ HR experience across a broad range of sectors including retail, utilities and financial services.
She spent 16 years at Asda, five of those years as an operating board member responsible for people operations and
customer service for 150,000 colleagues. Sarah joined Provident Financial Group in 2012 as Executive Peopie Director
before becoming Group People Director at Bourne Leisure Limited in 2015. Sarah was appointed to the Board on
11 March 2015,

6. Christopher Sawyer

Non-Executive Director

Christopher developed Deltron Electronics Plc into a European-leading manufacturer and distributor of niche components
and it was sold in during 2008. During 2007 Christopher led the acquisition of Lorien Group PLC. Foliowing restructuring
and disposals, the remaining businesses grew some 300% and were sold during 2014/5 to NYSE/LSE companies.
Christopher is a fellow of the RSA and the 10D, companion of the Charted Management Institute and Past Master The
Worshipful Company of Scientific Instrument Makers, He is alsc a Trustee of the Think Tank ‘Tomorrow's Company’.
Christopher has been a non-executive director of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited since 2008 and currently chairs
its audit committee. Christopher was appointed to the Board on 2 April 2015 as a nominated director of Marshall of
Cambridge (Heldings) Limited.

7. Christopher Walkinshaw

Non-Executive Director

Christopher joined Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings} Limited in 1983 and has been a director since 1999. He has worked
in all of the principal Marshall businesses, including Marshall Aerospace, Marshall Land Systems and, from 1994 to 2011,
Marshall Motor Hoidings. Christopher joined the senior team in Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Ltd in 2041 and has
respensibility for external relations and communications. Christopher is Chairman of The Air League Trust, a member of
the Air Cadet Council and Chairman of No. 104 (City of Cambridge) Squadron Air Cadets. Christopher is a Trustee of
the Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust and a board member of the Bottisham Multi Academy Trust. Christopher was appointed
to the Board on 12 July 2016 as a nominated director of Marshail of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited.

8. Francesca Ecsery

Non-Executive Director

Francesca has 19 years’ directorship experience in both blue chip companies and start-ups in the digital, retail, fast-moving
consumer goods ("FMCG”} and leisure industries. She is a Harvard MBA, fluent in five languages and has special
expertise in multi-platform consumer marketing, branding and commercial strategies. Francesca is also non-executive
director of Foreign & Colonial Investment Trust plc, Share plc and Good Energy Group ple {all of which are listed on AlM
or FTSE) and of VISTA Limited. Her previous executive experience includes McKinsey, PepsiCo, ThornEMI, Thomas
Cook, STA Travel and many other consumer brands. Francesca was appointed to the Board on 25 March 2015.

9. Stephen Jones

Company Secretary

Stephen is a practising Solicitor and spent eight years as a corporate lawyer at Eversheds LLP He also spent eight years
as group counsel and company secretary at Automotive and Insurance Solutions Group ple. Stephen joined the Company
on 16 March 2015.
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Directors’ Report

The Direclors present their annual report on the affairs of the Group, together with the financial statements and independent
auditor’s report, for the year ended 31 December 2016 {the “Year").

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company. The principal activity of its subsidiary undertakings is car and
commercial vehicle sales, leasing, servicing of vehicles and associated activities.

Results and dividends

The results for the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Directors recommend the
payment of a final dividend of 3.70p per ordinary share to be paid on 26 May 2017 to shareholders who are on the Company's
register at close of business on 21 April 2017.

Business Review and Future Developments
The review of the business and likely future developrents is included within the Strategic Report. This aiso includes details of
acquisitions and growth plans for the future.

Going concern

After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and for at least one year from the date of these financial statements,
For these reasons, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of these financial statements.

Directors
Details of the current directors are set out on pages 26 to 27. The directors who served during the Year and subsequently are
detailed below.

Current Directors

Non-Executive Directors

Peter Johnson

Alan Ferguson

Sarah Dickins

Francesca Ecsery

Christopher Sawyer

Christopher Walkinshaw  (Appointed 12 July 20186)

Executive Directors
Daksh Gupta
Mark Raban

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company adopted on 12 March 2015 (the "Articles”™), Peter Johnson will
retire by rotation and offers himself for reappointment at the annual general meeting to be held on 23 May 2017 (the "AGM”).

In addition, having been appointed since the date of the last annual general meeting, Christopher Walkinshaw will aisc retire by
rotation in accordance with the Articles and offers himseif for reappointment at the AGM.

The interests of the Directors and their immediate families in the share capital of the Company, along with details of Directors
share options and awards, are contained in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 39 to 46.

Share Capital

The autherised and issued share capital of the Company, together with the details of shares issued during the Year are shown
in Note 26 to the financial statements. The issued share capital of the Company at 31 December 2016 was 77,392 862 ordinary
shares of 64p each.

Substantial Shareholdings
As at 10 March 2017, the Company had been notified of interests in excess of 3 per cent in the Company’s share capital by the
following shareholders:

Percentage of Existing

Name Number of Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares Held
Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited 50,390,625 65.11%
Union Inyestments and Development Limited 7,008,839 8.05%
Schroders pic 3,807,275 5.05%
Polar Capital LLP 3,087,900 3.99%
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Share Option Schemes
Details of employee share option schemes are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Charitable and Political Donations
During the Year, the Group made the following charitable donations: £51,000 (2015; £49,000).

No political contributions were made during the Year (2015: £nil).

Disabled Employees

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the candidate’s particular aptitude
and abilities are consistent with adequately meeting the requirements of the job, Opportunities are available to disabled employees
for training, career development and promotion. Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Group’s policy to provide
continuing employment wherever practicable in the same or an alternative position and to provide appropriate training to achieve
this aim.

Employee involvement

During the Year the policy of providing employees with information about the Group has been cortinued through the newsletier
‘Marshall Matters’, team briefings and through our global email network. Regular meetings are held between local management
and employees to allow a free flow of information and ideas. In the weeks following the acquisition of Ridgeway, senior
management held a series of meetings with employees of Ridgeway to welcome them to the Group and to answer questions on
the impact of the acquisition. We also participate in the Great Place to Work Institute's employee engagement programme,
Further details are set out in the Corporate Social Responsibility Section of this Annual Report,

Disclosure of Information to Auditor

In so far as each of the persons who were Directors at the date of approving these financial statements is aware:

«  There is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor is unaware; and

< Each director has taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the auditor is aware of that.

Auditor
A resolution to re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditor will be put to the shareholders at the AGM.

AGM
Notice of the AGM to be held on 23 May 2017 is set out at the end of this Annual Report. The Resolutions proposed at the AGM
are summarised as follows:

»  Resolution 1 — Receiving the annual report and accounts for the year ended 31 December 2016

All guoted companies are required by law to lay their annual accounts before a general meeting of the Company, together
with the directors’ reports and auditors’ report on the accounts. At the AGM, the directors will present these documents to the
shareholders for the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

+  Resolution 2 — Decfaration of dividend

This resolution concerns the Company's final dividend payment. The directors are recommending a final dividend of
3.70p per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 which, if approved, will be paid on 26 May 2017
to the shareholders on the register of members on 21 April 2017,

«  Resolution 3 — Re-appointment of Director
Peter Johnson will retire by rotation and offers himself for reappointment at the AGM in accordance with the Articles.
»  Resolution 4 — Re-appointment of Director

Having been appointed since the date of the last annual general meeting of the Company, Christopher Watkinshaw will retire
by rotation and offers himself for reappointment at the AGM in accordance with the Articles.

= Resolution 5 — Re-appointment of the Auditor

This resolution concerns the re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as auditors until the conclusion of the next general meeting
at which accounts are laid.

+  Resoiution 6 — Auditors’ remuneration
This resolution authorises the Directors to fix the auditors' remuneration

By order of the Board

N
i

A

Stephen Jones
Company Secretary

14 March 2017
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Corporate and Social Responsibility

MARSHALL PEOPLE

Our Values

Everything we do is underpinned by
our values which are woven in to the
fabric of our business and are upheld
by colleagues.

Recruiting, retaining and
developing our people

We have a clear Colleague Value
Proposition to attract the best talent
and support our strategy to be an
employment destination. We use a
range of tools and assessment
methods to ensure we recruit people
who can deliver their objectives in ling
with our values and business strategy.

Every new colleague experiences a
thorough induction programme which
incorporates our history, values, aims
and objectives as well as a structured
programme of training and coaching
relevant to their role, the brand and the
{eam.

QOur  dedicated team of HR
professionals support the business,
aided by policies and practices to
ensure we provide the best support,
benefits and career opportunities to
our colleagues.

Our bespoke Marshall Learning &
Development Academy provides
opportunities for our colleagues to
realise their potentiai and support their
development to ensure they have a
fulfitling career with us.

Recognising our people

Our recognition programmes are
designed to support our colleague
engagement agenda. These
programmes include overseas
incentive trips, long service awards
and awards for demonstrating our
values.

Our MAVTA programme (Marshali
Achieverment, Values and Teamwork
Awards) recognises colleagues who
demonstrate outstanding
achievements in Customer Service,
Teamwork, Innovation, Leadership,
Services in the Community, Business
Excelience and Environmental.

Communicating with our people
We believe that communication is the
key to  maintaining colleague
engagement and our employment
brand. We have an ethos of
transparency and sharing news on a
regular  basis including CEO
communications, weekly bulletins, our
Colleague magazine, intranet and
regular team meetings.

Diversity and our people

We are commitied to encouraging
diversity  and ensuring that
discrimination has no place in our
business. We want every colleague to
feel respected and abte to perform to
the best of their ability. We do not
make assumptions about a person's
ability to carry out his or her duties
based on ethnic origin, gender, sexual
orientation, marital status, religion or
other philosophical beliefs, age or
disability.

We expect all our colleagues to act
with integrity and behave ethically in
everything they do. To reinforce this
we have the Marshall Code of Conduct
which is supported by an online
programme which forms part of every
new colleague’s induction,

Engaging our people

We strive to ensure our employment
policies and practices are consistent
with our values and culture, as well as
helping us to achieve our business
objectives through engaged people
and we use an external measure to
heip validate this.

Since 2008 we have worked with the
Great Place to Work Institute’s Best
Workplaces programme, This has
given us the opportunity o seek
feedback from our colleagues each
year to measure levels of
engagement. Our scores continue to
buiid year on year; in 2016 we were
delighted to not only be ranked again
as a Best Workplace but to go from the
26th to 19th Best Large UK
Workpiace.
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Our committed trainers provide
bespoke training through
our Academy

Apprentice of the Year Award

The group runs weekly induction
pregrammes for alt new starters
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MARSHALL MAKING A DIFFERENCE
As a values-based business, encouraging
our colleagues to make a differerce is
important 1o us and our cuiture.

We focus on creating an environment
where colleagues enjoy coming to work
and contribute to meeting our business
ohjectives. We believe that highly engaged

colleagues deliver enhanced performance
ang that it is important to give back to our
communities and good causes.

Group Giving

We are actively involved in supporting and
raising awareness for BEN — Motor and
Allied Trades Benevolent Fund. BEN is
the UK's dedicated charity for those who
work, or have worked, in the autormotive
and related industries, as welt as their
dependants. Qur CEQ is a trustee and
current Vice President of BEN for whom
he did a charity skydive in 2016 raising
more than £150,000 in donations.

This year we introduced ‘BEN Week’
which saw every dealership participate
in a creative fundraising event to raise
money for BEN. Qur first year was a
huge success raising nearly £17,000.
This is also a tremendous teambuilding
opportunity for both colleagues and
customers.

For the past 17 years we bhave

supported the Macmillan Coffee
Mornings which enables our businesses
fo get involved at a local level, bringing
colleagues and customers together.

We also support national initiatives such
as Red Nose Day, Children in Need and
Wear it Pink for Breast Cancer.

Local Giving

+ We encourage our colleagues to get
involved with local causes which
support the communities in which
they work. By way of example:

« Qur Head Office colleagues
supported Wear it Pink for Breast
Cancer and braved a winter barbeque
in fancy dress.

= One of our Technicians at Bridgwater
Volkswagen had his head shaved in
the showroomn in aid of MIND

« Qur IT Manager took part in a
grueiling 100-mile cycle ride for
Macmillan Nurses

MARSHALL EMBRACING SAFETY
We seek to adopt a consistent approach
to health and safety for all work activities
across our business.

Qur Health and Safety policy gives clear
lines of responsibility and is reviewed
regularly to promote high standards of
health, safety and welfare to meet our
legal responsibilities.

A Health & Safety newsletter is
published regularly highlighting relevant
information to  colleagues to
communicate and bring to their attention
any issues or concerns that relate to
their health, safety and welfare.

A quarterly bulletin is sent out to all site
management who have a responsibility
for health and safety. This highlights any

key focus areas and new processes and
is a useful method of communication.

All new managers to the business who
have a direct responsibility to health and
safety at their site are sent a Managers
HSE handbook and given remote training
in their first month in the business.

Our Health, Safety & Environmental
Department, which has recently been
strengthened by the appointment of a
new Health & Safety Manager, aims to
provide support and direction to all sites
by reviewing the policies and
procedures and supporting and advising
managers to fulfil their responsibilities.
They coordinate training for first aiders,
fire wardens and risk assessors as
required, as well as monitoring, reporting
and investigating of all incidents.

Health and Safety Statistics in 2016

2016 2015
Number of fatalites 0 0
Major injuries reported
under RIDDOR* 5 14
Dangerous occurrences
reported under RIDDOR” o] 0
Number of enforcement
notices issued by HSE 0 0
Number of prohitution
notices issued by HSE ¢ 0

*Reporiing of Injuries, Dangerous
Occurrences Regulations 2013

MARSHALL GOING GREEN
The Marshall LEAF (Lowering Energy to
Aid the Future)} aims to lower the impact

we have on the environment.

In line with our regulatory responsibilities,
agreements are in place for the safe
disposal of displaced fluids, scrap metal,
parts and related waste products.

All dealerships which required a permit for
the operation of a vehicle refinishing
installation under the Environmental
Permitting (England & Wales) Regulations
2007 have achieved this. On-going
monitoring is in place to ensure we remain
compliant with the permit issued.

We ensure that all relevant sites are
compliant with the requirement to hold a
Trade Effluent Consent.

We also have recycling initiatives in
every site for more general waste such
as ink cartridges, batteries and paper.
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Staff supporting the Motor and Aflied Trades Benevolent Fund (BEN)

Heatth and safety 1s an integral part of Marshalls day fo day operation

Lowering Energy to Ald the Future (LEAF)
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Corporate Governance

PRINCIPLES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board recognises that applying sound governance principles in the running of the Group is essential. The Company is listed
on AIM and is therefore not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, in recognising the value and
importance of high standards of corporate governance the Company has, since Admission, adopted the QCA Corporate
Governance Cede for Small and Mid-Size Quoted Companies so far as it is practicable having regard for the size and nature of
the Group-

An explanation of how these principles have been applied during the Year is set out below.

THE BOARD

The table below sets out details of all directors who have served during the Year and their membership of Board Committees.
This includes details of each member's attendance at the ten board meetings during the Year. There are separate attendance
statements in respect of the Audit and Remuneration Committees on pages 38 and 40.

Director Date appointed Role Committees Board

{C = current chair) attendance
Peter Johnson 27 June 2014 Non-Executive Chairman Nomination Committee {C) 1010
Alan Ferguson 11 March 2015 Senior Independent Director  Audit Committee (C) 10/1G

Remuneration Commitiee
Nomination Committee

Francesca Ecsery 25 March 2015 independent Non-Executive Audit Committee 10/10
Remuneration Committee
Nomination Committee

Sarah Dickins 11 March 2015 Independent Non-Executive Audit Committee 10/10
Remuneration Committee (C)
Nominations Committee

Christopher Sawyer* 2 April 2015 Non-Executive Audit Committee 10/1C
Remuneration Committee
Nomination Committee

Christopher 12 July 2018 Non-Executive n/a 4/4=
Walkinshaw™

Daksh Gupta 1 October 2008 Chief Executive Officer n/a 1010
Mark Raban 2 April 2015 Chief Financial Officer n/a 10/10

* Christopher Sawyer and Christopher Walkinshaw are nominated directors of Marshall of Cambridge (Hoidings) Limited,
** Appointed 12 July 2016

Board decisions are generally on matters of strategy (including acquisitions), policy, people, performance, budgets and significant
capital expenditure. Each director receives information on matters o be discussed (including Board reports from the Chief
Executive, Chief Financia! Officer and Company Secretary) in advance of each Board meeting to ensure that there is a full debate
at Board level and in particular so that the non-executive directors can contribute fully.

The Board has formally reserved specific matters for its determination and has approved terms of reference for all Board
Committees.

All directors have access to independent professional advice, if they have the need to seek it. There is an induction process for
rew directors and training is available when required.
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Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Senior Independent Director
Peter Johnson is Non-Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is Daksh Gupta. There is a formal division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer The Senior Independent Director is Alan Ferguson.

Board balance
The Company currently has eight directors, of which three are independent non-executives.

Under the terms of a Relationship Agreement {"Relationship Agreement”) with Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited (“MCHL")
{details of which are set out below), MCHL is entitied to appoint two nominated directors to the Board, so iong as it holds 30%
or more of the Company’s ordinary shares. MCHL appointed Christopher Sawyer as one of its nominated directors on 2 April
2015 and appointed Christopher Walkinshaw as its second nominated director on 12 July 2016.

Performance evaluation

Given that the current Board was established on Admission in 2015, it is considered that 2017 is the appropriate time for the
Board to conduct an internal performance evaluation. In addition, the non-executive directors have met without the presence of
the executive directors, during which the performance of executive directors was assessed and without the presence of the
Chairman (fo assess the performance of the Chairman).

Re-election

In accordance with the Company's Articies, Peter Johnson will retire by rotation and offers himself for reappointment at the AGM.
In addition, having been appointed since the date of the last annual general meeting of the Company, Christopher Walkinshaw
will retire by rotation and offers himself for reappointment at the AGM.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee which comprises Peter Johnson (Chair of the Committee), Alan
Ferguson, Sarah Dickins, Francesca Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, preparing a description
of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment anc identifying and nominating candidates to fill Board positions

as and when they arise.

The Nomination Commitiee met once during the Year to discuss the appointment of Christopher Walkinshaw as a non-executive
director.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee, which comprises Alan Ferguson {Chair of the Committee), Sarah Dickins,
Francesca Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer.

Further information on the Audit Committee is set out on pages 37 to 38.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee which comprises Sarah Dickins {(Chair of the Commitiee),

Alan Ferguson, Francesca Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer.

Further information on the Remuneration Committee is set out on pages 39 to 46.
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RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group is committed to maintaining good relations with all its sharehoiders through the provision of Interim and Annual
Reports, other trading statements and the Annual General Meeting. The Company also meets with its institutional shareholders
regularly.

in light of MCHI-s aggregate shargholding in the Company, on Admission the Company entered into the Relationship Agreement
with MCHL in order to regulate the relationship between MCHL and the Company and enable the Company to act independently
of MCHL and its affiliates. Under the terms of this agreement MCHL has the right, for so long as it owns 30% or more of the
Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company, to appoint two directors to the Board and one director to each of the committees
of the Board, including the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The Relationship Agreement will terminate in the
event that MCHL ceases 10 own 30% or more of the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

Further details of the Relationship Agreement can be found in the Company’s AlM Admission Document which is available on
the Company's website at www.mmbhplc.com.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting provides an opportunity for all shareholders to be updated on the Group's progress and ask
questions of the Board.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board has ultimate responsibility for both the preparation of accounts and the monitoring of systems of internal financiai
control. The Board seeks to present a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's position and its prospects
and present price-sensitive information in an appropriate way.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group's system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. However, any
such system of internal control can provide only reasonable but not absolute, assurance against material misstaterent or loss.
The Board considers that the internal controls in place are appropriate for the size, complexity and risk profile of the Group.

The principal elements of the Group's internal control system include:

« managemegnt of the day to day activities of the Group by the executive Directors; aided by the Group's bespoke management
information system, Phoenix 2Z;

«  an organisational structure with defined levels of responsibility;

« an annual budgeting process which is approved by the Board;

« detailed weekly and monthly reporting of performance against budget and the prior year using Cognos;

«  central control over key areas such as capital expenditure authorisation, contracts and financing facilities;

- formal accounting policies and procedures which are reguiarly reviewed and publicised in the business; and

« aninternal audit department which monitors compliance of Company processes and procedures and whose programme of
work is overseen by the Audit Committee.

- aReiaill FCA Committee to monitor, review and deal with general FCA matters and an FCA Gversight Committee to oversee
the Retail FCA Committee and the Group's compliance with FCA legislation.

The Group continues to review its system of internal control to ensure compliance with best practice, whilst also having regard
{0 its size and the resources available.

The pringipal risks and uncertaipties identified by the Board are set out on pages 22 to 24,
By order of the BO;;:

Stephen Jones
Company Secretary
14 March 2017
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Audit Committee Report

Alan Ferguson
Senior Independent Director
and Chair of the Audit Committee

Audit Committee Members

The Company’s Audit Committee was
established on Admission and
comprises myself, Sarah Dickins,
Francesca Ecsery and Christopher
Sawyer.

With the exception of Christopher
Sawyer (given his positon as a
nominated director of MCHL), all
members of the Audit Committee are
considered to be independent.

It is considered that the Audit Committee
possesses the necessary skills and
experience to fulfil its responsibilities
effectively with its members, through
their other business activities, having a
wide range of financial and commercial
expertise. In particular, as set out on
pages 26 and 27, my background was
as an experienced Finance Director who
served on the boards of a number of
large companies throughout my
executive career. | am the current chair
of the audit committees of Johnson
Matthey plc, Croda International plc and
The Weir Group plc.

Audit Committee Responsibilities

The Audit Committee’'s principal
respeonsibilities are to:

«  monitor the integrity of the
Company's financial statements
{including its annual and interim
reports, interfim  management
statements, results’ announcements
and any other formal
announcement relating to its
financial performance};

= review significant financiat reporting
issues and judgements as
described in Note 2 of the financial
statements;

*  keepunder review the effectiveness

of internal controls and  risk
management systems;

+ review arrangements for the
Company's empioyees to raise
concerns, in confidence, about
possible wrongdoing in financial
reporting or other matters;

+  monilor and review the
effectiveness of the internal audit
function, review and approve the
internal audit function’s planned
work and meet privately with the
head of internal audit without the
presence of management; and

» make recommendations to the
Board in relation to the appointment
of the external auditor and oversee
the relationship with the external
auditor, including approving the
annual audit plan, assessing audit
quality and effectiveness and
approving the audit fee.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities,
its procedures and its authority are set
out in formal terms of reference
approved by the Board.

Audit Committee Meetings

The Audit Committee has an annual
agenda of matters to be considered and
is scheduled to meet three times each
year and at any other time when it is
appropriate to consider and discuss
audit and accounting related issues.

Audit Committee meetings are attended
{at the discretion and invitation of the
Committee’s Chair), by the Chairman,
executive directors, head of internat
audit and representatives of the
Company’s external auditor.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee
met formaily three times, each member's
attendance at those meetings being set
out below:.

Committee Attendance
Member Role record
Alan Chair of the

Ferguson Committee 3/3
Sarah Non-Executive

Dickins Director 33
Francesca Non-Executive

Ecsery Director 33
Christopher  Non-Executive

Sawyer Director 313

Between the end of the Year and the
date of this report there was a further
meeting of the Audit Committee which
was aftended by all members.

Activities during the period

During the period since the last annual
repart to the date of this repaort, the Audit
Cormmittee has:

« reviewed and amended its terms of
reference and operated in
accordance with an annual agenda
of matters to be considered by it;

+  reviewedthe public announcements
relating to its financial position
including the accounting issues, key
accounting judgments and going
concern assessment in connection
with the full year and Interim results
announcements;

= considered the accounting issues
arising as a result of the acquisition
of Ridgeway;

+ reviewed, and after challenge,
approved the external auditor's audit
plan for 2018, including their
proposed fee and statement of
independence. The Audit
Committee also reviewed the quality
of the external audit and
recommended the

re-appointment of the external
auditor,

+  reviewed non audit fees paid i the
external auditors in the Year. These
fees totalled £36k and related solely
to the review of the Group's interim
results;

*  overseen the appointment of a new
external audit partner during the
Year;

» considered and subsequently
recommended, the taking of an
audit exemption in respect of the
year ending 31 December 2016
pursuant to 5.479A Companies Act
2006 for certain subsidiary
companies as set out on page 76;

* approved the programme of work
for the internal audit department in
2016 and considered the output of
that work. In addition, it approved
the internal audit plan for 2017;

+ considered the Group's risk
management process and its
effectiveness; and

*  reviewed the Company’s
arrangements to enable employees
to raise concerns about possibie
improprieties confidentially including
the use of an independent
organisation o provide a
confidential ‘whistleblowers’ hotline.

The Committee receives reports from
executive directors and also receives
reports from, and periodically meets
with, the external auditor and the head
of internal audit in the absence of
management. In addition, as the chair of
the Audit Committee | also meet with the
external and internal auditor outside of
the formal meetings.

Alan Ferguson

Chair of the Audit Committee
14 March 2017
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Remuneration Committee Report

Sarah Dickins
Non-Executive Director
and Chair of the
Remunetation Committes

ANNUAL STATEMENT FROM THE
CHAIR OF THE REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

| am pleased to present, on behalf of the
Board, the Remuneration Committee's
(the “Committee”) Remuneration Report
providing details of the remuneration of
the Directors for the financial year ending
31 December 2016 (“Year”) and of our
remuneration policy and principles.

Remuneration policy

Last year | advised that we had
undertaken a full review of our
remuneration policy on Admission. Since
Admission, we have continued to take into
account the current regulation and best
practice of main market listed companies
in our remuneration policy. This Year we
have afso ensured our approach reflects
the significant growth in the Group and
the impact of the strategic acquisitions of
8GS and Ridgeway. We continue to keep
remuneration policy under close review
and consider our policy to be appropriate
1o our strategy.

Remuneration outcomes for the
period to 31 December 2016

As outlined in the operating review, the
Company has reported another record
year of results resulting in the Group
becoming the 7th largest motor retailer in
the UK which is a significant stride
towards our collective ambition to become
the UK's premier automotive and leasing
group. Financial highlights include
like-for-like revenue growth of 10.7% and
underlying PBT of £25.4m representing
an increase of 60.4% on 2015.

As set out in the remuneration report last
year, for the Year under review, base
salaries, annhual bonus opportunity and
Performance Share Plan ("PSP")
opportunities for beth Daksh Gupta and
Mark Raban remained the same as the
previous year.

Annual bonus opportunity during the
Year was based on the achievement of
profit after tax (“PAT") targets with
bonuses of 93.0% of maximum
awarded to the Chief Executive and the
Chief Financial Officer in respect of
performance in the Year.

The Executive Directors also received a
PSP Award under the Company's PSP
which is subject to demanding three year

earnings per share (“EPS") targets,
re-based post the Ridgeway acquisition.
Subject to the performance condition
being met, PSP awards will vest on the
third anniversary of grant with any
vested shares required to be held for a
further 12 months post vesting.

Key remuneration decisions for the
year to 31 December 2017

As already stated, the Commitiee
believes that the remuneration policy
adopted on Admission remains
appropriate and having reviewed base
salaries for the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer in the context
of increases for the wider workforce, the
Committee has approved increases of
2%. The maximum annual bonus
potentiat for 2017 will be 125% of salary
for the Chief Executive Officer and 100%
of salary for the Chief Financial Officer.
To more closely align with the business
KPls and reflect market practice, targets
for 2017 are based on PBT inline with the
stretching business plan.

The Committee intends to make awards
in 2017 under the PSP subject to a
maximum of 125% of salary in respect of
the Chief Executive Officer and 100% of
salary in respect of the Chief Financial
Officer. Vesting will be subject to the
achievement of demanding three year
EPS targets. Any shares awarded this
year to Executive Directors that vest under
the PSP must be retained for a further
12 months before they can be sold.

Conclusion

The directors’ remuneration policy which
follows this annual statement sets out
the  Committee's  principles  on
remuneration for the future and the
annual report on remuneration provides
details of remuneration for the Year. The
Committee will continue to be mindful of
shareholder views and interests, and we
believe that the Directors’ remuneration
policy is aligned with the achievement of
the Company’s business objectives.

By order of the Board

Sarah Dickins
Chair of Remuneration Committeg
14 March 2017
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE
Throughout the Year, the Committee comprised three independent Non-Executive Directors: Sarah Dicking (Chair of the
Committee), Alan Ferguson, Francesca Ecsery alongside Christopher Sawyer who is an appointed representative of MCHL.

The table below sets out each member’s attendance record at Committee meetings during the Year.

Committee member Role Attendance record
Sarah Dicking Chair of the Committee 6/6
Adan Ferguson Non-Executive Director 65/6
Francesca Ecsery Non-Executive Rirector 56
Christopher Sawyer Non-Executive Director 56

The Chairman of the Board, members of the management team, as well as the Committee’s advisers, are invited to attend
meetings as appropriate, unless there is any potential conflict of interest.

The Remuneration Committee: responsibilities
The terms of reference of the Committee cover such issues as: committee membership; frequency of meetings; quorum
requirements; and the right to attend meetings. In addition, the Committee has responsibility for, amongst other things:

*  making recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy on remuneration for the Group;

+ determining and monitoring specific remuneration packages for the Chairman, each of the Executive Directors and certain
senior management in the Group, including pension rights and any compensation payments;

* recommending and monitoring the level and structure of remuneration for senior management;
+ recommending and overseeing the implementation of share related schemes, including scheme grants;

+ ensuring the Committee has access to independent remuneration advice including responsibility for appointing a suitably
qualified adviser.

The Board remains respensible for the approval and implementation of any recormmendations made by the Committee. The
remuneration of Non-Executive Directors other than the Chairman is determined by the Chairman of the Board and the Executive
Directors.

The Committee’s advisers

The Committee engages external advisers to assist it in meeting its responsibilities. During the Year, the Committee undertook a
competitive selection process following which Willis Towers Watson was appointed 1o provide independent remuneration advice
to the Committee. Willis Towers Watson are a signatory to the Remuneration Consultants’ Code of Conduct, and the Committee
is satisfied that the advice that it receives is objective and independent.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The overall aim of our remuneration policy is to pravide appropriate incentives that reflect the Group's performance culture and
vaiues, through a number of specific remuneration components (detailed in the table on the following pages). in summary, we
aim to:

= attract, retain and motivate high calibre, senior management and to focus them on the delivery of the Group's strategic and
business objectives:

+ set base pay having had due regard to the competitive talent market in which the Company operates with incentive pay
structured $0 that fop quartite pay can be achieved for top quartile performance;

*  be simple and understandable, both externally and to colleagues; and

»  achieve consistency of approach across the senior management population o the extent appropriate.

In determining the practical application of the policy, the Committee considers a range of internal and external factors, including
pay and conditions for employees generally, shareholder feedback, and appropriate market comparisons with remuneration
practices in FTSE-listed, AlM-listed and other automotive-based companies.

The Committee is satisfied that this policy successfully aligns the interests of Executive Directors, senior managers, and other

employees with the long-term interests of shareholders, by ensuring that an appropriate proportion of total remuneration is
directly linked to the Group's performance over hoth the shart and the long term.



GOVERNANCE

Future policy table

The main elements of the remuneration package of Executive Directors are set out below:

Purpose and link to
strategy

BASIC SALARY

Attract and retain high calibre
Executive Directors to deliver
strategy.

ANNUAL BONUS

Incentivise achievement of
business  objectives by
providing reward for
performance against annual
financial targets.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES —

Alignment of interests with
shareholders by providing
long-term incentives designed
to incentivise and recognise
execution of the business
strategy over the longer-term.

Operation

Paid in 12 equal! monthly
instalments during the Year.

Paid in cash after the end of
the financial year to which it
relates,

Recovery and withholding
provisions apply.

MMH PERFORMANCE SHAR

Grant of £nil cost options under
the PSR Options normaily vest
3 years from grant subject to
the achigvement of
performance conditions and
continued employrment.

A 12 months post-vesting
holding period applies for
awards made from 20186.

Maximum opportunity

Reviewed annually to reflect role,
responsibilty and performance
of the individual and the Group,
and to take into account rates of
pay for comparable roles in
similar  companies.  \When
selecting comparators, the
Committee has regard to, inter
alia, the Group's revenue,
profitability, market worth and
business sector There is ro
prescribed maximum increase.
Annuat rates are set out in the
annual report on remuneration
for the current year and the
following year.

It is the policy of the
Committee to cap maximum
annual bonuses. The levels of
such caps are reviewed
annually and are set at an
appropriate percentage of
annual salary. Currently the
maximum bonus is 125% of
base salary in respect of the
Chief Executive Officer and
100% in respect of the Chief
Financial Officer.

PLAN

150% of base salary {up to
200% of base salary in
exceptional crcumstances) in
any financial year.

Current award levels are set
out in the Annual Report on
Remuneration,

Performance metrics

None

Performance is normally
measured over one year,
based solely on financial
targets {e.g. PBT}.

The Committee sets threshold
and maximum targets on an
annual basis.

A sliding scale operates
between threshoid and
maximum performance. No
bonus is payable where
performance is below the
threshold.

Payment of any bonus is
subject to the overriding
discretion of the Committee.

Vesting is subject to continucus
employment and targets linked
1o the stralegy of the business.
Current targets are based on
achievement of growth in
earnings per share, but the
Committee may vary the
targets. 25% vests for achieving
threshold performance, 100%
vests for achieving maximum
performance.
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Purpose and link to
strategy

Provide benefits consistent
with role and in support of the
personal health and wellbeing
of employees.

Attract and retain Executive
Directors for the long term by
providing funding for
retirement.

ncrease alignment between
the Executive Directors and
shareholders.

To attract NEDs who have a
broad range of experience
and skills to oversee the
implementation  of  ou
strategy and provide strong
performance stewardship.

=

SHARE OWNERSHIP GUIDE

|

At least 100% of base salary
for Executive Directors.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES (“NED")

Annual rate set out in the
annual
remuneration for the current
year and the following year.
No prescribed maximum
annual increase.

Operation

A dividend
provision applies.

equivalent

Recovery and withhoiding
provisions apply at the
discretion of the Committee
within three years of vesting.

Currently these consist of

holiday entitlement, health
insurance, life assurance
premiums and  income
protection insurance. The

Committee reviews the level
of benefit provision from time
to time and has the flexibility
to add or remove benefits o
reflect changes in market
practices or the operational
needs of the Group.

All Executive Directors are
entitled to participate in the
Company's defined contribution
pension scheme or to receive a
cash allowance in lieu of
pension contributions.

Only base
pensionable.

salary s

Executive  Directors  are
expected {o retain 50% of the
net of tax vested PSP shares
until the guideline level is met.

NED fees are determined by
the Board (excluding NEDs)
within the limits set out in the
Articles of Association and
are paid in 12 equal monthiy
instalments during the Year.

of

The Chief Executive receives a
16%
contribution.

The Chief Financial
participates in the Company’s
defined contribution pension
scheme whereby the Company
makes an 8% of base salary
confribution, conditional upon the
Chief Financial Officer making a
matched contribution of 8%.

base

report

Maximum opportunity

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES — MMH PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN {CONTINUED)

penerns R

The cost of providing benefits
is borne by the Company and
varies from time to time,

salary

Officer

on

Performance metrics

None

None

None
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Directors’ service contracts, notice periods and termination payments

Provision

Details

service contracts

Notice pericds in Executive Directors’

Maximum of 12 months by Company or Executive Director.
Executive Directors may be required to work during the notice period.

Compensation for loss of office

In the event of termination, service contracts provide for payments of base salary,
pension and benefits only over the notice period,

termination

Treatment of annual bonus on

There is no contractual right to any bonus payment in the event of termination
although in certain "good leaver” circumstances the Remuneration Committee
may exergise its discretion to pay a bonus for the perind of employment and based
on performance assessed after the end of the financial year,

Treatment of unvested PSP awards

The default treatmenit for any Ordinary Share-based entitiements under the PSP
is that any outstanding awards lapse on cessation of employment. However, in
certain prescribed circumstances, or at the discretion of the Committee “good
leaver” status can be applied. In these circumstances a participant's awards vest
subject to the satisfaction of the relevant performance criteria and, ordinarity, on
a time pro-rata basis, with the balance of the awards lapsing.

QOutside appointments

Other directorships are permitted with prior agreement:

— Daksh Gupta is a director of BEN — Motor and Allied Trades Benevolent Fund.

— Mark Raban is a director of Precise Finance Limited. Precise Finance Limited
is a company owned by Mr Raban and used to provide consultancy services
prior to his appointment to Marshall Motor Holdings plc.

Nan-executive directors

All Non-Executives are subject to re-election every three years, No compensation
is payable if they are required to stand down.

In the evertt of the negotiation of a compromise or settlement agreement between the Company and a departing Director, the
Committee may make payments it considers reasonable in settiement of potential legal claims. Such payments may also include
reasonable reimbursement of professional fees in connection with such agreements.

The Committee may also include the reimbursement of fees for professional or outplacement advice in the termination package,
if it considers it reasanable to do so. It may also allow the continuation of benefits for a limited period.

Dates of appointment

Director Date of appointment
PW Johnson 27 June 2014

D Gupta 1 October 2008

MD Raban 2 Aprit 2015

ﬂn Ferguson

11 March 2015

I
DSM Dickins

11 March 2015

£ Ecsery 25 March 2015
CJ Sawyer 2 April 2015
CMH Walkinshaw 12 July 2016

Copies of Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment are available for inspection at the Company's registered office.
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Annual Report on Remuneration

Single total figure of remuneration
The table below sets out the single total figure of remuneration and breakdown for each Director in respect of the 12 month
period ending 31 December 2016.

Basic Annual  Longterm
salary Fees Benefits' Pension bonuses incentives? Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
D Gupta 400 19 64 465 252 1,200
MD Raban 250 4 21 233 42 550
Total 650 23 85 698 294 1,750
PW Johnson - 130 - - - - 130
AM Ferguson - 55 - - - - 55
DSM Dickins - 45 - - - - 45
FE Ecsery - 40 - - - - 40
CJ Sawyer - 40 - - - - 40
CMH Walkinshaw?® - 18 - - - - 18
Total - 328 - - - - 328
Aggregate directors
emoluments 650 328 23 85 698 294 2,078

1 The benefits above include items such as medical cover, life assurance premiums and income protection :nsurance.
2 Long term incentives in the table above reflect the value of share cptions exercised during the Year.

3 Christepher Walkinshaw is a nominated director of Marshali of Cambridge {Hotdings) Ltd with the fee payable in respect of his undertakings as a Non-Executie
Director payable to Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Ltd. The amount set out above in respect of fees for his services relates to the penod from his appointment
on 12 July 2016 to 31 December 2016.

LTIP awards
The movement in directors’ LTIP Awards during the Year are as follows:

Numberat Numberlapsed Numbergranted Number exercised Number at

1 January 2016  during the year  during the year during the Year 31 December 2016

D Gupta 1,073,824 - 242,718 (134,228) 1,182,314
MD Raban 335,570 - 121,359 (22,371) 434,558

Details of LTIP Awards granted during the Year are as follows:

Market
value on
Earliest Exercise date of Number of
Date of exercise price grant options
Scheme grant date {(pence) {pence) granted
D Gupta 2016 LTIP award’ 13-Jun-16 13-Jun-18 ENil 197.5 242,718
MD Raban 2016 LTIP award’ 13-Jun-16 13-Jun-19 £Nil 197.5 121,359

1 The performance condition applying to LTIP awards is explained in Note 26 to the Censolidated Financial Statements.



GOVERNANCE

Statement of directors’ shareholding
Our Executive Directors are expected ta build up and maintain a 100% of salary shareholding in the Company and are expected
to retain 50% of the net of tax vested PSP shares uniil the guideline level is met. The Directors who held office at 31 December
2016 and their connected persons had interests in the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2016 as follows:

Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary LTIP Interests
shares Options Market shares With Without

beneficially  exercised purchases Disposals beneficially performance conditions performance conditions Totat
held as at duringthe duringthe duringthe held as at Vested but Vested but  interestin
Mnzns Year Year Year 3MM2e Unvested unexercised  Unvested unexercised shares
PW Johnson 150,328 - 25,000 - 175,328 - - - 175,328
D Gupta 693510 134,228 15,400 - 843,138 913,858 - 268456 - 2,025,452
MO Raban 39,355 22,31 - . 61.726 389,815 - 44743 496,284
AM Ferguson 33,557 - 25,000 - 58,557 - - - 58,557
D3M Dickins 6,711 - - - 6,711 - - - 6,711
FE Ecsery 2013 - 2.013 - - 2,013
CJ Sawyer - - - 214,498 - - - - 214,498

214,498
CMH Walkinshaw -

1 The performance conditions applying to LTIP awards are explained in Note 26 to the Consoldated Financial Statements.

The middle market price of the shares as at 30 December 2016 was 138p and the range in respect of the 12

ending 31 December 2016 was 132.65p to 212p.

Implementation of remuneration policy for the year ending 31 December 2017
The annual salaries and fees to be paid fo directors in the year ending 31 December 2017 are set out below, together with any

increase expressed as a percentage.

month period

31 December 2017 31 December 2016 Increase

£'000! £'000 %

PW Johnson 1326 130 2
D Gupta 408 400 2
MD Raban 255 250 2
AM Ferguson 57.56 55 4.5
DSM Dickins 47.5 45 5.5
FE Ecsery 40 40 -
CJ Sawyer 40 40 -
CMH Walkinshaw? 40 - -

1 Following a review of the fee payable to the Charrman it was degided to increase the fee paid by 2%. The significant contribution made by Peter Johnson to the
business and the impartance of his ongoing strong stewardship was noted. Having reviewed the Non-Executive Director fees it was alsa decided to increase the
fee payable for chairing the remuneration and audit committee by £2,500 to reflect the increasing responsibilties associated with these roles as a listed company.
All other fees remain unchanged.

2 Christopher Walkinshaw is a nominated director of Marshall of Cambridge (Hoklings) Ltd with the fee payable in respect of his undertakings as a Non-Executive
Director payable to Marshall of Cambndge (Holdings) Ltd.

The maximum annual bonus for the year ending 31 December 2017 will be 125% of salary for the CEO and 100% of salary for

the CFO. Awards are determined based on PBT targets. Recovery and withholding provisions will apply.

The Commitiee intends to grant options under the PSP in 2017, These options will be £nil cost options over a vatue of shares
subject to a maximum of 125% of salary in respect of the Chief Executive Officer and 10C% of salary in respect of the Chief
Financial Officer where the vesting is subject to targets based on the achievement of earnings per share targets.

By order of the Board

Sarah Dickins

Chair of the Remuneration Committee

14 March 2017
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable iaw
and reguiations.

The Directors are required to prepare Consolidated financial statements for each financial year in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The Directors have elected to prepare the parent
company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the Group and Company and of the profit and loss of the Group for that
period. In preparing those Consolidated financial statements, the Directors are reguired to:

» select and apply accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8;

+ present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

«  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial position and financial
performance; and

» state that the group has complied with IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements.

in preparing the Company financial statements, the Directors are required to:
- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
»  make judgements and estimates that are reascnable and prudent;

«  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject 1o any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and

- prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will not
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which are sufficient to disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TC THE MEMBERS OF MARSHALL MOTOR
HOLDINGS PLC

What we have audited

We have audited the financial statements of Marshall Moteor Holdings plc for the year ended 31 December 2016
which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated Group Statement of Comprehensive
Income

Consolidated Group Statements of Changes in Equity  Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Group Statement of Financial Position, Parent Comparny Balance Sheet
Consolidated Group Statement of Cash Flows

Related notes 1 to 30 to the financial statements Related notes 1 to 10 to the Parent company financial
statements

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financia! statements is
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards {(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice), including FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland".
Opinion on financial statements

fn our opinion:

» thefinancial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2016 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

» the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union,

» the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generaily Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in
the UK and Republic of Ireland”; and

» the financial staterments have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2008.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

I our opinion:
»  based onthe work undertaken in the course of the audit

» the information given in the Strategic Repornt and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

» the Stralegic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicabie legal
requirements;



Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In fight of the knowiedge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have identified no material misstatements in the Strategic Report or Directors’ Report

We have nothing 1o report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report
to you if, in our opinion:

> adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

»  the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns;
aor

»  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 47, the directors are
respaonsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Iretand). Those standards require us to compty
with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no cther purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and
the parent company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directers; and the overall presentation of the
financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the
course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report.

[;M[J%LZ/O

Nigel Meredith (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Stalutory Auditor
Cambridge

14 March 2017



FINANCI|AL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Note 2016 2015
£'000 £000
Revenue 3 1,899,405 1,232,761
Cost of sales (1,678,949) (1,087,452)
Gross profit 220,456 145,309
Operating expenses 4 {191.402) (127,063)
Group operating profit 29,054 18,246
Finance costs 8 {6,903) (2,883)
Profit before taxation 22,151 15,363
Analysed as:
Underlying profit before tax 25,400 15,838
Non-underlying items 5 {3,249) (475)
Taxation 9 {4,397) (3.649)
Profit for the year 17,754 11,714
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 17,762 11,721
Non-controlling interests (8) (73
17,754 11,714
Total comprehensive income for the year net of tax 17,754 11,714
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 17,762 11,721
Non-contralling interests (8) (7
17,754 11,714
Earnings per share (expressed in pence per share)
Basic earnings per share 10 23.0 19.7
Diluted earnings per share 10 22.3 19.2




Marshall Motor Holdings ple | Annual Report & Accounts 2016

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Equity
attributable
to Non-
Share Share Retained owners of controlling Total
Note capital premium earnings the parent interests equity

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Balance at 1 January 2015 2,250 - 63,870 66,120 36 66,156
Profit for the year - - 11,721 11,721 (7} 11,714
Total comprehensive income - - 11,721 11,721 M 11,714
Transactions with owners
Dividends paid 11 - - (15,448) (15,448) - (15,448)
Issue of share capital 26 47,181 19,672 - 66,853 - 66,853
Share based payment charge 26 - - 556 556 - 556
Deferred tax on share based
payments 24 - - 82 82 - 82
Balance at 31 December 2015 49,431 19,672 60,781 129,884 29 129,913
Profit for the year - - 17,762 17,762 (8) 17,754
Total comprehensive income - - 17,762 17,762 (8) 17,754
Transactions with owners
Dividends paid 11 - - {3.25%) (3,251} - (3,251)
Issue of share capital 26 100 - (100) - - -
Share based payments charge 26 - - 1,313 1,313 - 1,313
Deferred tax on share based
payments 24 - - 7O (70) - (70}
Balance at 31 December 2016 49,531 19,672 76,435 145,638 21 145,659




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2016

Note 2016 2015
£000 £'000

Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets 12 122,033 40787
Property, plant and equipment 13 201,811 107,285
Investment property 14 2,590 1,920
Investments 15 10 10
Deferred tax asset 24 36 58
Total non-current assets 326,430 150,060
Current assets
Inventories 18 380,016 240,632
Trade and other receivables 19 95,073 42,724
Cash and cash equivalents 20 83 24,130
Total current assets 475,172 307,486
Total assets 801,652 457,546
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 26 49,531 49 431
Share premium 26 19,672 19,672
Retained earnings 76,435 60,781
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 145,638 129,884
Share of equity attributable to non-controlling interests 21 29
Total equity 145,659 129,813
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 22 41,364 24,677
Trade and other payables 21 7,462 8,269
Provisions 23 1,450 289
Deferred tax liabilities 24 20,803 4,324
Total non-current liabilities 71,079 37,559
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 22 77,730 26,700
Trade and other payabies 21 497,340 260,321
Provisions 23 5,242 762
Current tax liabilities 4,602 2,291
Total current liabilities 584,914 290,074
Total liabilities 655,993 327,633
Total equity and liabilities 801,652 457,546

The financial statements on pages 50 to 93 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2017,

Daksh Gupta Mark Raban
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

~ M P R
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for;
Depreciation and amortisation 12113
Finance costs 8
Share based payment charge 26
Profit on disposal of property, plant & equipment 4
Profit on disposal of dealerships 4/5
Increase in fair value of investment properties 5/14
Changes in working capital:
(Increase}/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in frade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in frade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 23
Tax paid
Interest paid
Net cash inflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and software 12/13
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired 12
Net cash flow from sale of businesses
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 22
Repayment of borrowings 22
Dividends paid 11
Issue of share capital net of costs 26

Net cash inflow from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash eguivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at period end

2016 2015
£'000 £'000
22,151 15,363
24,233 21,087
6,903 2,883
1,313 556
(38) (61)
(285) .
(670) -
53,607 39,828
(14,814) (77.621)
(27%) 30,457
56,299 38,465
(2,940) 1,051
38,274 (7,648)
(4,669) (3,804)
(6,903) (2,883)
80,309 25,493
(61,927) (39,573)
(94,495) (21,498)
3,145 .
11,418 8,646
{141,859) (52,425)
85,444 28,642
(44,690) (30,811)
(3,251) (15,448)
. 66,853
37,503 49,236
(24,047) 22,304
24,130 1,826
83 24,130




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Net Debt Reconciliation
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Note 2016 2015
£'000 £7000

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in (net debt)/cash
{Reduction)/increase in net cash and cash equivalents (24,047) 22,304
Proceeds from drawdown of RCF (35,000) -
Repayment of asset backed borrowings 22 37,308 30,811
Proceeds of asset backed borrowings 22 (50,444) (28,642)
Repayment of other borrowing 7,382 -
Debt acquired with acquisitions 12 (25,705) -
Derivatives acquired with acquisitions 12 (1,258) -
Movement in net debt (91,764) 24,473
Opening net debt (27.,247) (51,720)
Net debt at pericd end (119,011) (27,247)
Asset backed finance within leasing segment (64,513} (51,377)
Adjusted (net debt)/cash at year end {(non GAAP measure)
{see note 1) (54,498) 24,130




Marshall Motor Holdings plc | Annual Report & Accounts 2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

Marshall Motor Holdings pic is a Public Limited Company which is listed on the Alternative Investment Market {"AIM") and is
incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of the registered office is Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge,
CBS5 8RY. The registered number of the Company is 2051461. The consolidated financial statements of Marshall Motor Holdings
plc have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs
as adopted by the EU), and the Companies Act 2006. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going
concern basis under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of investment properties. The consolidated
financial statements include the results of all subsidiaries of Marshall Motor Holdings plc as listed on pages 97 and 98 of the
annual report.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling which is the presentational and functional currency of the Group and rounded to
the nearest £'000 except where otherwise indicated.

Like for like business are defined as those which traded under the Group's ownership throughout both the period under review and
the whole of the comparative period.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The estimates and
judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liahilities are set
out in note 2. The Directors consider that the accounting policies set out below are the most appropriate and have been consistently
applied.

Standards and interpretations adopted by the Group in the year ended 31 December 2016

The following standards, amendments and interpretations were in issue, but were not yet effective at the balance sheet date. These
standards have not been early adopted by the Group.

» |FRS 9 Financial Instruments
. IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
*» IFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to IFRS 9 are due to take effect from accounting periods commencing from 1 January 2018.The Directors do not
anticipate that the adoption of IFRS 9, where relevant in future periods, will have a material impact on the Company’s financial
statements.

IFRS 15 is due to take effect from accounting periods commencing from 1 January 2018. This new revenue standard may lead to
new treatments resulting from considerations of transfer of control, variable consideration, the time value of money, and allocation
of transaction prices based on reiative stand-alone seliing prices. The Directors are currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15
and do not anticipate that it will have a material impact on either revenues or profit.

IFRS 16 is due to take effect from accounting periods commencing from 1 January 2019 and makes substantial changes to how
lease arrangements are accounted for and will specifically resuit in many of the group’s lease arrangements coming on balance
sheet. The Directors are currently assessing IFRS 16 which is likely to have a significant impact upon both non-current assets and
liabilities and impact certain measures of profitability. Details of the Group's lease commitments are provided in note 27.

Going concern
After making appropriate enguiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue

in operational existence for the foreseeable future and for at least one year from the date that these financial statements are signed.
For these reasons they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation

iy ~ Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controfled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control potential voting rights
that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. Control is generally accompanied by a shareholding of more
than one half of the voting rights. The financial information of subsidiaries is included in the consalidated financial information
from the date that control commences untii the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initialty at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
on an acquisition by acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of acquiree's identifiable net assets.

Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and are not reported within underlying profit before tax.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with 1AS 39
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill, If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously heid interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the income statement,

(i) Transactions gliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and any gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial information. Losses are eliminated in the same way as gains but only to the extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.

(iii} Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when control
is lost. The change in carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reciassified to profit or loss.

(iv) Subsidiary audit exemption

As disclosed on page 77, certain subsidiaries have taken exemption from audit for the year ended 31 December 2016 by virtue of
s479 of the Companies Act 2006.

Segmental reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal management reporting provided to the chief operating

decision makers. The chief operating decision maker who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Land and buildings are shown at fair value based on formal valuations by external independent valuers performed at least every
three years and updated each year for the Directors” estimate of value. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure
that the fair vaiue of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Investment property is not depreciated.
Any surplus or deficit on revaluation is taken to profit or loss and is not included within underlying profit before tax.

Owned assets

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumutated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes the
original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.
When parts of an item of property, ptant and equipment have different useful lives those components are accounted for as separate
iterns of property, plant and equipment. Assets under construction are not depreciated until they come into use when the physical
construction is complete,

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
income statement.

Leased assets

Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are classified as finance
leases. Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are recorded at fair value or, if lower, the present value of
minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less depreciation and any impairment.

Each finance lease payment is allocated between the fiability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in the cther long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the Income
Statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each petiod.

Depreciation

Depreciation is charged to profit or ioss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property,
plant and equipment. Estimated residual values are included in the calculation of depreciation.

The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the usefut life of the asset and
the lease term. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are set out below.

*  Leasehold improvements — depreciated over sheorter of term of lease or 10 years
+  Fixturg and fittings — 4 years

= Computer equipment - 2-5 years

*  Freehold buildings — 50 years

+  Freehold land is not depreciated

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired,

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets, when acquired separately from a business combination, include computer software and licences. Cost
comprises purchase price from third parties and amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over the assets’ expected
economic lives, which varies depending on the nature of the asset. Licenses are amortised over the length of the licence and
software is amortised between 3-5 years.

Other intangible assets, acquired as part of a business combination, include franchise agreements, favourable teases and order
backlog. These items are capitalised separately from goodwill if the asset is separable and if the fair value can be measured
reliably on initial recognition. Such assets are stated at fair value less accumulated amortisation which is calculatec on a straight
line basis. Favourable leases are amortised over 3 years, order backlog is amortised as the orders are fulfilled and franchise
agreements have an indefinite life. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful iife are tested annually for impairment. Amortisation
is included within administrative expenses in the Staterment of Comprehensive Income.

Measurement period adjustment

The Group assesses the fair value of assets acquired and finalises purchase price allocation within the measurement peried
following acquisition and in accordance with IFRS 3. This includes an exercise to evaluate other material separately identifiable
intangible assets such as franchise agreements, favourable leases and order backlog.

The finalisation of purchase price allocations may result in a change in the fair value of assets acquired.

In accordance with IFRS 3 measurernent period adjustments are reflected in the financial statements as if the final purchase price
allocation had been completed at the acquisition date.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets not subject to amortisation are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverabie amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset's fair value less ¢osts to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiabie cash flows {cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwil! that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Goodwill and intangible assets are not subject to amortisation but are assessed for impairment. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash generating units ("CGUs™), or groups of
CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated
(being groups of dealerships connected by manufacturer brand) represents the lowest leve! within the entity at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes.

Impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount which is the higher of value in use or fair value
less costs of disposal. Value in use calculations are performed using cash flow projections, discounted at a pre-tax rate which
represents the time value of money and asset specific risks.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. Management determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that arise principally through the
provision of services to customers, They are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. They are included in current assets except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. Loans and receivables comprise mainfy cash and cash eguivalents and trade and other receivables.

Impairment of financial assets

Impairment provisions are recognised when there is objective evidence {such as significant financial difficulties on the part of the
counterparty, or default or significant delay in payment) that the Group will be unable to collect all of the amounts gue under the
terms receivable. The amount of such a provision is the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the
future expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable.

For trade receivables, which are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a separate provision account with the loss being
recognised within other operating costs in the Income Statement. On confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectable
the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated provision.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position when there is a iegally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Inventories and purchases of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location
and condition are included and cost is based on price including delivery costs less specific trade discounts. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling price less further costs to be incurred to disposal. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving or
defective items where appropriate.

Inventories held on consignment are recognised on the balance sheet with a corresponding liability when the terms of a
consignment agreement and industry practice indicate that the principal benefit of owning the inventory (the ability to sell it) and
principal risks of ownership {inventory financing charges, responsibility for safekeeping and some risk of obsolescence) rest with
the Group. Inventory financing charges frorm manufacturers and other vehicle funding facilities are presented within finance costs.
These charges are expensed over this period that vehicles are funded.

The Group finances the purchase of new and used vehicle inventories using vehicle funding facilities provided by various lenders
including the captive finance companies associated with brand partners. These finance arrangements generally have a maturity
of 90 days or less and the Group is normally required to repay amounts outstanding on the earlier of the sale of the vehicles that
have been furided under the facilities or the stated maturity date. Amounts due to finance companies in respect of vehicle funding
are included within trade payables and disclosed under vehicle financing arrangements. Related cash flows are reported within
cash flows from operating activities within the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Vehicle financing facilities are subject to
LIBOR-based (or similar) interest rates. The interest incurred under these arrangements is included within finance costs and
classified as inventory holding interest,
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

Cash, cash equivalents and net debt

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank
overdrafts which form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the statement of cash flows and are presented in current liabilities.

Net debt as presented in the cash flow staterent comprises asset backed finance and bank borrowings net of cash balances.
Adjusted net debt is defined as debdt finance, net of cash balances, excluding asset backed finance relating to the leasing segment.
Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business. These are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due in one year or less. If payment is due at a later date they are presented as
non-current kabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method.

Trade payables include the liability for vehicles held on consignment with the corresponding asset included within inventories.
Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of fransaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the Income
Statement over the peried of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
aresult of a past event and it is probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect
is material provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability The increase in the provision due
to the passage of time is recognised in finance costs.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attriputable to the issue of new shares are shown in share
premium as a deduction from the proceeds.

Share based payments

The Group allows employees to acquire shares in the Company through share option schemes. The fair value of share options
granted is recognised as an employee expense within underlying earnings, with a corresponding increase in equity. The Group
operates a nurmber of equity-setiled, share-based compensation plans. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting year is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium when the options are exercised.
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Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods
supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, when it i$ probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity, and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue comprises sales and charges for vehicles sold and services rendered during the year including sales to other Marshali
of Cambridge {Holdings) Limited group companies but excluding inter-company sales within the Group. Revenue from the sale of
new and used vehicles is recognised at the point at which a customer takes possession of a vehicle. Revenue in respect of other
services is recognised once the service has been provided.

The income received in respect of warranty policies sold and administered by the Group is recognised over the period of the policy
on a straight line basis. Revenue also comprises commissions receivable for arranging vehicle financing and related insurance
products. Commissions are based on agreed rates and the income is recognised when the vehicle is recognised as sold. The
Group acts as agent on behalf of principals and the commission earned is also recorded at an agreed rate when the transaction
has occurred.

Vehicles leased out under finance leases, which are leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets
are passed to the lessee and hire purchase contracts, are both shown as debtors in the balance sheet at the amount of the net
investment in the lease. The interest elements of the renta! obligations are credited to the profit and loss over the period of the
lease and are apportioned based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return. Finance lease income is presented in
revenue.

Vehicles leased out under operating leases are held within property, plant and equipment at their cost to the Group and are
depreciated to their residual values over the terms of the leases.

Rental income from finance leases is recognised in revenue over the period of the lease. These assets are transferred into inventory
at their carrying amount when they cease to be rented and they become available for sale as part of the Groups ordinary course
of business

Deferred income

Where the Group receives an amount in advance of future income streams the value of the receipt is amortised over the periocd
of the contract as the services are delivered. The unexpired element is disclosed in other liabilities as deferred revenue.

Rebate income

The Group receives income in the form of rebates from suppliers and other partners. These are generally based on achieving
certain objectives such as specific volumes. Rebate income is recognised as a credit to cost of sales at the point when it is
reasanably certain that the targets have been achieved and when income can be measured reliably based on the terms of the
contract. The accrued value at the reporting date is included within trade receivables.

Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid.

Leases
The costs associated with operating leases are taken to the income statement on an accruals basis over the period of the lease.
Where the Group enters into a lease which entails taking substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset the lease

is treated as a “finance lease”. The accounting policy for leased assets is disclosed in 'Property, plant and equipment’ above.

Rental payable under operating leases is charged to profif and loss on a straight line basis over the lease term.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

Net finance costs

Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, stock financing charges and other interest.

Finance income

Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested. Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it
accrues using the effective interest method.

Income tax

Income tax for the years presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment 1o tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

The following temporary differences are not pravided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of other assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit; nor differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that
they are unlikely to reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabiities and when the deferred tax assets and habilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred tax
liabilittes where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Employee benefits: Pension obligations

Empioyees of the Group participate as members of two pension schemes; the Marshall Group Executive Pension Flan (“the Plan™)
which is operated by Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited and has two sections, one of which operates on a defined benefit
basis and one of which operates on a defined contribution basis. The second is a defined contribution scheme (Marshall Motor
Holdings Defined Contribution Pension Scheme).

For the defined contribution arrangements, the Group charges contributions to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme. For the defined benefit section of the Plan, the Group accounts for
its contributions as if it were a defined contribution scheme. There is no contractual agreement or stated policy for charging the
net defined benefit cost betwean the individual companies within the Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited Group.
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Alternative performance measures

Certain items recognised in reported profit or loss before tax can vary significantly from year to year and therefore create volatility
in reported earnings which does not reflect the Group’s underlying performance. The Directors believe that the ‘undertying profit
before tax' and ‘underlying basic earnings per share’ measures presented provide a clear and consistent presentation of the
underlying performance of the Group’s or-going business for shareholders. Underlying profit is not defined by IFRS and therefore
may nhot be directly comparable with the ‘adjusted’ profit measures of other companies.

Non-underlying items which are not included within underlying profit before tax and may include:

— Acquisition costs

— Profitlosses arising on closure or disposal of businesses

— Restructuring and reorganisation costs — these are one-off in nature and do not relate to the Group’s underlying performance.

— Investment property fair value movements — these reflect the difference between the fair value of an investment property at
the reporting date and its carrying amount at the previous reporting date

— One-off tax charges and pension costs

— Assetimpairments

2. Critical accounting judgements and estimates

The Group makes estimates and judgements concerning the future. The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are discussed below:

Valuation of goodwill and other indefinite life assets

The Group reviews the goodwill and intangible assets arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses and values each
identifiable asset separately Intangible assets are then aliocated to cash generating units ('CGUs'"), however this allocation exercise
requires a high level of judgement and the Group consults with independent experts as required.

Estimated useful life of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and impairment testing

The Group estimates the useful life and residual values of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and reviews these
estimates at each financial year end. The Group also tests for impairment when a trigger event occurs or annually as appropriate.

The impairment review is performed by projecting the future cash flows, excluding finance and tax, based upon budgets and plans
and making appropriate judgements about rates of growth and discounting these using a rate that takes into account the time
value of money and the risk inherent in the business. If the present value of the projected cash fiows is less than the carrying
value of the underlying net assets and related goodwill an impairment charge would be taken to the profit or loss in the Income
Statement unless the fair value less cost of disposal of the related asset is higher than the carrying value,

Pension benefits

As described in notes 1 and 29 the Group accounts for any contributions payable to the Plan and the Marshait Motor Holdings
Defined Contribution Pension Scheme as defined contribution schemes. The Group has paid all of its contributions due under the
current recovery plan to remove the funding deficit on a technical provisions basis in the defined benefit section of the Plan revealed
by the actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2013. The next actuarial valuation of the Plan is due as at 31 December 2016 and
the extent of any future cash contributions by the Group will be considered once the valuation has been performed during 2017,
As described on page 62, on the basis that there is no contractual agreement or stated poficy for changing net defined benefit cost
between the individual companies within the Marshall Group, it is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme.

Inventory valuation

Motor vehicle inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value (fair value less costs to sell). Fair values are
assessed using reputable industry valuation data which is based upon recent industry activity and forecasts. Whilst this data is
deemed representative of current value it is possible that ultimate sales values can vary from those applied.
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Assets held for contract hire

Vehicles are depreciated on a straight line basis to residual values which mirror those utilised in the creation of the original client
contract. Care is taken to minimise the risk of an exposure to losses at contract end, and the entire portfolio is reassessed utilising
an independent vaiuation too! throughout the life of the underlying contracts,

Tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities require management judgement in determining the amounts to be recognised. Judgement is
used when assessing the extent to which deferred tax assets should be recognised with consideration given to the timing or level
of future taxable income.

3. Segmental information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the operating reports reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer
that are used to assess both performance and strategic decisions. These results have been determined using consistent accounting
policies as the overall financial statements. Management has identified that the Chief Executive Officer is the chief operating
decision maker in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 8 Operating Segments.

The business is splitinto two main operating segments generating revenue and a third support segment. No significant judgements
have been made in determining the reporting segments.

*  Retail — sales and servicing of motor vehicles and ancillary services
» leasing —leasing of vehicles to end consumers and fleet customers
*  Unallocated — administrative and asset management functions in support of the wider business

All segment revenue, profit before taxation, assets and liabilities are attributable to the principal activity of the Group being the
provision of car and commercial vehicle sales, leasing, vehicle service and other related services. All revenue is generated in the
UK. Depreciation presented in the segmental note is restricted to assets other than assets held for contract rental, on the basis
that depreciation on our leasing fleet is presented within cost of sales.

Retail
(see below) Leasing Unallocated Total

£000 £000 £'000 £'000
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Revenue
Total revenue 1,859,734 39,349 322 1,899,405
Total revenue from external customers 1,859,734 39,349 322 1,899,405
Depreciation and amortisation (6,862) (&) (22) (6,890)
Segment operating profit/(loss) 32,637 5653 (9,236) 29,054
Finance cost {5,319) {749) (835) (6,903)
Underlying profit before tax 28,900 4,904 {8,404) 25,400
Non-underlying items {1,682) - (1,667} (3,249)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 27,318 4,904 {10,071) 22,151
Total assets 620,365 91,512 89,775 801,652
Total liabilities 417,622 73,454 164,917 655,993

Additions in the period (including acquisitions)
Property, plant, equipment and software assets 94,344 35,537 - 129,881
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3. Segmental information (continued)

Retail
(see below) Leasing Unallocated Total

£000 £'000 £000 £°000
For the year ended 31 December 2015
Revenue
Total revenue 1,195,506 37,022 233 1,232,761
Total revenue from external customers 1,195,506 37,022 233 1,232,761
Depreciation and amortisation (3,801) {8 (18) (3,827)
Segment operating profit/(loss} 20,258 6,001 (8,013) 18,246
Finance cost (1,498) (1,125) (260) (2.883)
Underlying profit before tax 18,760 4,876 (7,798} 15,838
Non-underlying items - - {475) (475)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 18,760 4,876 {8,273) 15,363
Total assets 297,195 74,691 85,660 457,546
Total liabilities 225,572 60,356 41,705 327,633
Additions in the period (including acquisitions)
Property, plant,equipment and software assets 16,585 29,738 - 46,323

Retail revenue is derived from a number of service lines, principally being new vehicle sales and aftersales, as set out below.

New

Used

Aftersales & other
Internal

Total

2016 2015
£000 £000
983,314 637,774
718,329 459,235
202,568 127,840
(44,477) (29,343)
1,859,734 1,195,506
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2016 2015

£000 £000

Employee costs {note 7) 101,170 64,562
Depreciation on property, ptant and equipment (note 13} 5,838 3,600
Amortisation of other intangibles (note 12) 1,052 227
Profit on disposal of business units (285) -
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (38) (61)
Operating lease rentals — property 10,324 6,907
Management charges from Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited 199 1,127
Auditors’ remuneration (note 6) 366 355
Lega! and professional charges (including acquisition costs of £2,163,000) 3,162 1,100
Other expenses 69,624 49,246
191,402 127,063

£982,000 of the management charges from Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited in the year ended 31 December 2015 are
related to pre-Admission costs. Ongoing charges from Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited relate to various property and
facilities related activities. Acquisition costs of £2,163,000 were incurred in connection with the acquisition of Ridgeway Garages
{Newbury) Limited.

5. Non-underlying items

2016 2015
£'000 £°000
Acquisition costs 2,163 475
Profit on disposal of business units (285} -
Amortisation of acquired order book 769 -
Gain on interest rate swap termination (294) -
Restructuring costs 1,566 -
Investment property fair value movements (see note 14} (670} -
3,249 475

—  Atthe paint of the acquisition, Ridgeway had a claim in progress in respect of the alleged mis-selling of certain historic interest
rate swap products, which have since been settled, giving rise to a gain on termination of £294,000.

— Amortisation of acquired order book is considered non-underlying by virtue of its nature, having been recognised as an
intangible asset on acquisition and realised as orders were fuifilled.

— Restructuring and reorganisation costs relate to one-off costs of integration and reorganisation which have been necessary
following the acquisitions of Ridgeway and SGS. The costs, which are mostly people related, have been recognised have
been expensed/paid for during the year or provided for in fine with |AS 37.



Marshall Motor Holdings pic | Annual Report & Accounts 2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. Auditor’'s remuneration

Fees payable 1o the Company's auditors for the audit of the parent Company and
consolidated financial statements

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for other services

- audit of Group's subsidiaries

— review of interim financial statements

7. Employees and directors

a) Employee costs for the Group during the year

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

Employee costs are included in:

Cost of sales

Operating expenses

Average number of people {including Executive Directors) employed:
Retail

Leasing
Unallocated

2016 2015
£'000 £'000
251 245

79 70

36 40

366 355
2016 2015
£'000 £7000
101,678 67,219
10,613 7,051
1,714 1,229
114,005 75,499
2016 2015
£'000 £/000
12,835 10,937
101,170 64,562
114,005 75,499
2016 2015
3,567 2115
43 40

316 214
3,926 2,369
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b) Directors’ emoluments

The Directors’ aggregate emoluments in respect of qualifying services were:

2016 2015

£'000 £000
Aggregate emoluments 1,993 1,480
Pension contribution 85 64

2,078 1,544
Highest pard Director

2016 2015

£000 £'000
Aggregate emoluments including pension contribution 1,200 862

Prior to Admission, the cost of Directors’ services was met by a management charge to the parent company, Marshall of Cambridge
(Holdings) Limited. The management charge in 2015 was £1,127,000 inclusive of £656,000 in respect of historic LTIP liabilities
for the highest paid director which crystallised when the Company’s shares were admitted to AIM. The Direciors’ emoluments set
out above include Directors’ salaries since the Admission.

The 2015 comparative data represents Directors’ remuneration from the date of Admission (2 April 2015) to 31 December 2015.
The highest paid Director exercised 134,228 share options during the year.
c) Key management compensation

The following table details the aggregate compensation paid in respect of key management personnel — which comprises both
senior management who sit on the operational board and statutory directors.

2016 2015

£'000 £°000
Wages and salaries 3,600 2,855
Post-employment henefits 175 311
Compensation for loss of office 83 290
Share based payments 1,313 556

5171 4,012
Details of the share option schemes are provided in note 26.
8. Finance costs

2016 2015

£'000 £'000
Interest income on short term bank deposits (40) (33}
Interest payable on asset backed finance 749 1,125
Stock financing charges and other interest 3,958 1,498
Interest payable on bank borrowings 2,236 293
Net finance costs 6,903 2,883
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2016 2015
£'000 £000
Current tax

Current tax on profits for the year 5,598 4,258
Adjustments in respect of prior years 318 210
Total current tax 5914 4,468

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (18) (840}
Impact of change in tax rates (1,334) (223}
Adjustments in respect of prior years (165) 244
Total deferred tax {note 24) (1,917) (819)
Total taxation charge 4,397 3,649

2016 2015

2016 Non- 2016 2015 Non- 2015
Underlying underlying Total Underlying underlying Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £000 £'000
Profit before taxation 25400 (3,249) 22,151 15,838 (475) 15,363
Taxation 5,153 (7586) 4,397 3,649 - 3,649
Effective tax rate 20.29% 23.27% 19.85% 23.04% 0.00% 23.75%

The tax charge for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20.0% {2015 20.25%}). The differences
are explained below

2016 2015

£'000 £'000
Profit before tax 22,151 15,363
Profit multiplied by the rate of corporation tax of 20.0% (2015: 20.25%) 4,430 3,111
Effects of:
Other expenses not deductible 717 239
Acquisition costs 433 96
Adjustments in respect of prior years 151 454
Utilisation of brought forward losses - (51)
Impact of change in tax rate (1,334) (200}
Total taxation charge 4,397 3,649

The applicable tax rate for the current year is 20.0% (2015: 20.25%) following the reduction in the main rate of UK corporation tax
from 21.0% to 20.0% with effect from 1 April 2015.

A reduction to the corporation tax rate to 19.0% (effective from 1 April 2017) was substantively enacted on 26 October 2016 and
a further reduction to 17.0% (effective from 1 April 2020) was substantively enacted on 9 September 2016.
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10. Earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the earnings aftributable to equity shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares during the year and the diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue in the
year after taking account of the weighted average dilutive impact of shares under option of 2,380,040 at 31 December 2016 (2015:
1,029,528}, (See note 286).

Underlying earnings per share are based on basic earnings per share adjusted for the impact of non-underlying items.

The diluted earnings per share are based on the weighted average number of shares.

2016 2015

£000 £'000
Profit for the year 17,762 11,721
Non-controlling interests (8) (7
Basic earnings 17,754 11,714
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the basic earnings
per share 77,326,970 59,425,171
Diluted weighted average number of shares in issue for diluted earnings
per share 79,500,548 60,886,960
Basic earnings per share (in pence per share) 23.0 19.7
Diluted earnings per share (in pence per share) 223 19.2
Non-underlying items 3.2 0.8
Underlying earnings per share (non GAAP measure) 26.2 20.5

11. Dividends

A final dividend of £1,858,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015 was paid in May 2016. This represented a payment of 2.40p
per ordinary share in issue at that time.

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of £1,393,000, representing a payment of 1.80p per ordinary
share in issue at that time, was paid on 23 September 2016.

A final dividend of 3.70p per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 is to be proposed at the annual general meeting
on 23 May 2017. The ex-dividend date will be 20 April 2017 and the associated record date wilt be 21 April 2017. This dividend
will be paid subject shareholder approval on 26 May 2017 and these financial statements do rot refiect this final dividend payable.
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12. Intangible assets

Franchise Favourable Order
Goodwill agreements Software leases backleg Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2015 22,055 - - . - 22,055
Additions (restated — see below) 4777 13,552 159 - - 18,488
Adjustments (50} - - - - (50)
Disposals - - (58) - - {58)
Transfers - - 522 - - 522
At 31 December 2015 26,782 13,552 623 - - 40,957
Additions - - 506 - - 506
Additions on acquisition 23,516 58,563 - 172 769 83,020
Disposals {1,222) - (50) - - (1,272)
At 31 December 2016 49,076 72,115 1,079 172 769 123,211
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2015 - - - - - -
Charge for the year - - 227 - - 227
Disposals - - (57) - - (57}
At 31 December 2015 - - 170 - - 170
Charge for the year - - 250 33 769 1,052
Disposals - - (44) - - (44)
At 31 December 2016 - - 376 33 769 1,178
Net book amount
At 31 December 2015 26,782 13,552 453 - - 40,787
At 31 December 2016 49,076 72,115 703 139 - 122,033

Acquisitions and disposals - 2015

On 16 November 2015 the Company acquired the entire share capital of ("SGS"). SGS itself is the holding company of 9 wholly
owned subsidiary companies, SG Smith Automotive Limited, SG Smith (Moters) Limited, 3G Smith {Motors) Beckenham Limited,
SG Smith {Motors) Forest Hili Limited, SG Smith {Motors) Crown Point Limited, SG Smith (Motors) Sydenham Limited, SG Smith
(Motaors) Croydon Limited, SG Smith Trade Parts Limited and Prep-Point Limited. The companies acquired operate Audi, Skoda
and Mercedes-Benz Commercial dealerships and service centres in Kent, Surrey and London.

The net assets at the date of acquisition are stated at their fair value as set out below.

Intangible assets*

Deferred tax on acquired intangible assets (note 24)
Property, plant & equipment

Inventories

Trade receivables and other current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other payables™®

Net assets acquired

Deferred tax liability arising on transition to [FRS (note 24)
Goodwill*

Total cash consideration

*  restated as described on page 72

SG Smith
Heldings
Limited
£'000
13,552
(2,439)
6,750
24,195
5,548
2,477
(29,982)
20,101
(903)
4,777
23,975

e e——
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12. Intangible assets (continued)

Acquisitions and disposals - 2015

The Group recognised in the 2015 financial statements a provisional fair value of net assets acquired of £9,092,000 and a
provisional fair value for goodwill of £15,786,000, in respect of the acquisition of $.G. Smith Holdings Limited ("SGS”).

Within the measurement period following acquisition of SGS and in accordance with IFRS 3, the purchase price allocation has
been finalised. This included an exercise to search for other material separately identifiable intangible assets such as franchise
agreements, favourable leases and order backiog. As a result of this, a value of £13,552,000 has been ascribed to franchise
agreements reflecting the ability to sell manufacturer vehicles and to offer manufacturer standard aftersales services in a particular
geographic area. This amount has been reclassified from goodwill to franchise agreements, and a corresponding deferred tax
liability of £2,439,000 (note 24) has been recognised. The Directors’ judgement is that this intangible asset has an indefinite useful
iife and therefore will be reviewed for impairment on an annual basis.

The finalisation of the completion accounts exercise also resulted in an increase in the fair value of trade and cother payables
acquired of £104,000 (note 21).

In accordance with IFRS 3, the measurement period adjustment has been refiected in these financial statements as if the final
purchase price allocation had been completed at the acquisition date. The impact of this was to increase the vatue of goodwill by
£2,543 000, increase the value of trade payables by £314,000 and increase the vaiue of deferred tax liabilites by £2,439,000 frorm
the figures previously reported at 31 December 2015.

Acquisition costs of £475,000 were charged to the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Acquisitions and disposals — 2016

During the period, the business disposed of two Toyota dealerships and one Nissan dealership (goodwill of £1,222,000 associated
with the Nissan CGU).

On 25 May 2016 the Company acquired the entire share capital of Ridgeway Garages {Newbury) Limited {"Ridgeway"). Ridgeway
itself is the parent company of six wholly owned subsidiary companies, Pentagon Limited, Pentagon South West Limited, Ridgeway
TPS Limited, Ridgeway Bavarian Limited, Wood in Hampshire Limited and Wood of Salisbury Limited.

£59,504,000 of separately identifiable intangible assets were acquired on 25 May 2016 as part of the acquisition of Ridgeway. A
valfuation of these intangible assets has been performed by Globalview Advisors, an independent external specialist. The franchise
agreements identified have been assigned indefinite lives on the basis that these arrangements are expected to be renewed for
the foreseegable future. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of the above company is attributable to the anticipated profitability
of the distribution of the Group's products in new markets and the anticipated operating synergies derived from the combination.
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12. Intangible assets (continued)

The estimated net assets at the date of acquisition are stated at their provisional fair value as set out below.

Ridgeway

Garages

(Newbury)

Limited

Acquisition

balance sheet

NBV at Fair value at 31 May

31 May 2016 adjustment 2016

£'000 £000 £'000

Goodwill 2,600 (2,600} -
Intangible assets - 59,504 59,504
Deferred tax on acquired intangible assets - (10,728) (10,728)
Property, plant & equipment 65,414 {4386) 64,978
[nventories 124,124 (724) 123,400
Trade and other receivables 51,627 - 51,627
Cash and cash equivalents 12,664 - 12,664
Trade and other payables {175,041) (3.24%) {178,290}
Debt (25,705) - (25,705}
Provisions - (5,026) (5,026}
Deferred tax (954) (6.645) (7,598)
Derivatives (1,258) - {1,258}
Net assets acquired 53,471 30,096 83,567
Goodwill 23,380
Total cash consideration 106,947
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As disclosed at the time of acquisition, Ridgeway's consolidated statutory accounts for the year ended 2015 included a contingent
liability note in respect of various film tax planning initiatives. Settlement of this liability has been agreed subsequent to the year
ended 31 December 2016 and the liability of £4.2m is includec as a fair value adjustment in the preceding table and is carried
within provisions at 31 December 2016. Fair value adjustmenits also include provisional adjustments for property related matters,
inventory valuations, deferred tax, intangible assets and goodwill.

Acquisition costs of £2,163,000 have been charged to the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The table below summarises the amount of revenue and profit or loss of the acquiree since the acquisition date included in the
consolidated income statement for the pericd since acquisition,

Profit

Revenue before tax

£'000 £000

Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited 414,643 5,657

On 2 November 2016 Marshall Motor Group Limited acquired the trade and assets of Scratch Match Accident Repair Centre from
RLMO Limited. The net assels at the date of acquisition are stated at their provisional fair value as set cut below.

Scratch Match
Accident Repair

Centre

£'000

Property, plant & equipment 76

Net assets acquired 76

Goodwill 136
Total cash consideration T 12

—_——

The table below summaries the amount of revenue and profit or loss of the acquiree since the acquisition date included in the
consolidated income statement for the period since acquisition.

(Loss)

Revenue before tax

£°000 £'000

Scratch Match Accident Repair Centre 38 (72)

The tabie below summarises the amount of the revenue and profit or loss of the combined entity for the current reporting period
as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the year had been as of the beginning of the
annual reporting period.

Profit

Revenue before tax

£'000 £'000

Marshali Motor Holdings plc 2,228,157 25,212
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impairment testing

For the purpose of impairment testing goodwill and intangible assets are allocated to each cash generating unit (“CGU"}, or groups
of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. CGUs are groups of dealerships connected by
manufacturer brand. Each CGU or group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for management purposes.

Impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. Impairment reviews have been performed for all CGU groups for the years ending 31 December 2016 and 2015.

The recoverable amounts of all CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations use projections
based on financial budgets approved by management which are extrapolated using the estimated long term growth rates. The
budgets were prepared to 31 December 2017 and then projected for a further 4 years. A discounted cash fiow model was prepared
taking into account management's assumptions for growth in EBITDA and the long term growth rate for the industry. These
assumptions are based on past experience of growth rates in both existing and new markets, The discount rate used is 10%
(2015: 10%) and the perpetual EBITDA growth rate beyond 5 years is assumed as 2% (2015: 2%) to arrive at a terminal value.

Management has prepared separate sensitivity analyses on the basis that the discount rate increases to 12% and that EBITDA
decreases by 50% and has concluded that there is no impairment.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold
and long Assets
leasehold held for Assets
land and Leasehold Plant and contract under
buildings improvement eguipment rental construction Total
£000 £°000 £'000 £000 £000 £'060
Cost
At 1 January 2015 33,017 3,645 25,863 95,836 - 158,161
Additions at cost 2,670 4,609 2,403 29,732 - 39,414
Additions on acquisition 4,137 1,636 977 - - 6,750
Disposals - {19) (648} (28,478) - {29,145)
Transfers {2,443) 2,501 (1,418} - - (1,360)
At 31 December 2015 37,381 12,372 27177 96,890 - 173,820
Additions at cost 1,370 236 3,645 35,537 23,633 64,321
Additions on acquisition 53,276 2,872 5,007 - 3,899 65,054
Disposals (1,397) {278) (3,443) (30,483) - (35,601)
Transfers 17,857 (187) 2,840 - (20,510} -
At 31 December 2016 108,487 15,015 35,126 101,944 7,022 267,594
Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January 2015 9,361 1,210 19,181 37,372 - 67,124
Charges for the year 313 701 2,586 17,210 - 20,810
Disposals - - (408) (20,153} - {20,561)
Transfers (553) 629 (914) - - (838)
At 31 December 2015 9,121 2,540 20,445 34,429 - 66,535
Charges for the year 934 1,146 3,758 17,343 - 23,181
Disposals {1,103) (259) {3,057) (19,514) - {23,933)
Transfers 44 (44) - - - -
At 31 December 2016 8,996 3,383 21,146 32,258 - 65,783
Net book amount
At 31 December 2015 28,260 9,832 6,732 62,461 - 107,285
At 31 December 2016 99,491 11,632 13,980 69,686 7,022 201,811

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had capital commitments totalling £11.7m relating to new retail sites at Newbury Jaguar Land

Rover and Exeter Audi.
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2016 2015
£'000 £'000
Fair value at 1 January 1,820 1,820
Change in fair value (see note 5) 670 -
Fair value at 31 December 2,590 1,920

Investment properties are stated at fair vaiue. The Group's leasehold investment property was valued on a fair value basis as at
31 December 2018 at £590,000 and the Group’s freehold investment property on a fair value basis as at 31 December 2016 at
£2 000,000. A revaluation surplus of £670,000 has been taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 2016 and is included
in nor-undertying items in note 5. The valuations were undertaken at 31 December 2016 by Rapleys, Chartered Surveyors on an
open market value basis.

The Group policies in relation to investment property are included in note 1. The properties are rented out to third parties. Rental
income of £322,000 was recognised in 2016 (2015: £233,000). There are no restrictions on the Group's ability to dispose of the
investment property or use any funds arising on disposal. There are no contractual commitments for further development of the
investment properties.

15. Investments

The congolidated financial statements include the results of all subsidiaries owned by Marshall Motor Holdings plc as listed on
pages 97 and 98 of the annual report. Certain of these subsidiaries, which are listed below have taken the exemption from an
audit for the year ended 31 December 2016 by virtue of $s479A of the Companies Act 2006. In order to allow these subsidiaries
to take the audit exernption, the parent company, Marshall Motor Holdings plc, has given a statutory guarantee of all the outstanding
liabilities as at 31 December 2016 of the subsidiaries listed below. Where this audit exernption has been taken, it is in anticipation
of the compietion of a corporate entity reorganisation programme.

The subsidiaries which have taken an exemption from audit for the year ended 31 December 2016 by virtue of s479A of the
Companies Act 2006 are:

Tim Brinton Cars Limited 3.G. Smith {Motors) Limited

Marshall of Scunthorpe Limited S.G. Smith (Motors) Beckenham Limited
CMG 2007 Limited S.G. Smith (Motors) Forest Hill Limited
S.G. Smith Automotive Limited 5.G. Smith (Motors) Crown Point Limited
Exeter Trade Parts Specialists LLP 5.G. Smith (Motors) Sydenham Limited
Astle Limited Prep-Point Limited

Crystal Motor Group Limited S.G. Smith Trade Parts Limited

A list of all subsidiary undertakings as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 is given in note 3 of the Marshall Motor
Holdings plc company only financial statements {pages 87 and 98).
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16. Finance leases — Group as lessor

Lease agreements in which the other party, as lessee, is to be regarded as the economic owner of the leased assets give rise to
accounts receivable in the amount of the discounted future lease payments. At 31 December 2016 these receivables amounied
to £494,000 (2015: £572,000) and will bear interest income until their maturity dates.

2016

Unearned
Total future interest Present
payments income value
£°000 £000 £000
Within 1 year 234 3 231
Between 1 and 5 years 308 45 263
542 48 494

2015

Unearned
Total future interest Present
payments income value
£'000 £000 £000
Within 1 year 214 11 203
Between 1 and 5 years 411 42 369
625 53 572

The Group leases out vehicles under finance leases mainly through one of its subsidiaries Marshali Leasing Limited.

The majority of the leases typically run for a non-cancellable period of one and five years. Under the contracts, title either passes
to the lessee at the conclusion of the lease pericd, or the arrangements include an option to purchase the leased equipment after
that period.

17. Operating leases — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into non-cancellabie operating leases, as lessor, on a number of its assets held for contract rental included
in property, ptant and equipment and property included in investment property. The terms of these |eases vary.

Future minimum lease payments receivable for assets held for contract rental under non-cancellable operating leases are as set
out below.

2016 2015

£'000 £°000

Within 1 year 26,408 23,105
Between 1 and 5 years 71,891 63,142
98,299 86,247

Future minimum lease paymertts receivable for property under non-cancellable operating leases are as set out below.

2016 2015
£'000 £'000
Within 1 year 275 233
Between 1 and 5 years 813 825
After 5 years 508 1,108
1,996 2,166
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18. Inventories

2016 2015
£'000 £'000
Work in progress 668 424
Finished goods 388,684 244,863
Less: Provisions {9,358) (4,655)
Inventory (Net) 380,016 240,632

Finished goods include new and used vehicles held for resale, vehicle parts and other inventory. As at 31 December 2016
£364,695,000 (2016: £186,185,000) of finished goods are held under vehicle financing arrangements (see note 21).

Inventory recognised in cost of sales during the year as an expense was £1,630m (2015; £1,038m).
The 2015 comparative for stock provision has been restated for provision amounts of £789,000 which were previously included in

finished goods. There is no change te the total inventory balance as previously stated.

19. Trade and other receivables

2016 2015
£000 £'000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables due but not past due 54,509 25,669
Trade receivables past due 18,444 4,091
Trade receivables past due but impaired (1,944) {839)
Trade receivables — net 71,006 28,921
Other receivables 13,648 8,961
Amounts due from related undertakings {note 28) 7 311
Prepayments 10,412 4,531
95,073 42,724

Trade and other receivables are all due within 12 months and any fair value difference is not materiai. Trade receivables are
considered to be past due once they have passed their contracted due date and are reviewed for impairment if they are past due
beyond 30 days.

Other receivables include finance lease and hire purchase receivables of £494,000 {2015: £572,000). Of these £283,000
(2015: £396,000) are amounts due in more than one year. The comparative for 2015 included £7,467,000 manufacturer bonus
debtors within other receivables. These are now included within trade receivables. There is no change to the total trade and other
receivables balance.

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables were as follows:

2016 2015
£000 £'000
At 1 January B39 444
Additional provision for receivables impairment 1,915 1,014
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (810} (619)
At 31 December 1,944 839

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in ‘Other expenses’ (note 4). Amounts charged
to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering the amount due.
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20. Cash and cash equivalents

2016 2015
£000 £°000
Cash at bank and in hand 83 24,130
21. Trade and other payables
2016 2015
£°000 £'000
Trade payables:
— vehicle financing arrangements 364,695 186,185
- other trade payables 85,206 34,490
Amounts owed to related undertakings (note 28} 102 654
Other tax and social security payable 3,601 2,472
Other payables 10,634 10,944
Accruals and deferred income 40,564 33,845
504,802 268,590
Trade and other payables due within 1 year 497,340 260,321
Trade and other payables due after 1 year 7,462 8,269
504,802 268,590

Trade and other payabies, excluding social security and other taxes, are designated as financial liabilities carried at amortised
cost. Their fair value is deemed to be equal to their carrying value.

The Group finance the purchases of new and use vehicle inventeries using vehicle funding facilities’ provided by various tenders
including the captive finance companies associated with brand partners. These finance arrangements generally have a maturity
of 90 days or less and the Group is normaily required to repay amounts outstanding on the earlier of the sale of the vehicles that
have been funded under the facilities or the stated maturity date.

Amounts due to finance companies in respect of vehicle funding are included within trade payables and disclosed under vehicle
financing arrangerments. Related cash flows are reporting within cash flows from operating activities within the Consalidated
Statement of Cash Flows.

Vehicle financing facilities are subject to LIBOR-based (or similar) interest rates. The interest incurred under these arrangements
is included within finance costs and classified as stock holding interest.

Management considers the carrying amount of trade and other payables to approximate to their fair value. Long-term payables
have peen discounted where the time value of money is considered to be material.
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22. Loans and Borrowings

2016 2015
£000 £000
Non-current
Asset backed financing (leasing) 33,833 24,677
Bank borrowings 7,531 -
41,364 24,677
Current
Asset backed financing (leasing) 30,680 26,700
Bank borrowings 47,050 -
77,730 26,700
Total borrowings 119,094 51,377

Total borrowings include bank borrowings which are unsecured, except as described below, and asset backed financing, which is
secured by a fixed charge over specific vehicles held for leasing. The related finance comprises chattel mortgages.

Interest rate profile of interest bearing berrowings

2016 2015
Average Average
Debt effective Debt effective
£000 interest rate £'000  interest rate
Fixed rate borrowings
Asset backed financing 64,513 1.94 51,377 2.39
Bank borrowings 54,581 1.75 - 0.00
Weighted average cost of drawn borrowings 119,094 1.85 51,377 2.39
The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current borrowings are as below
2016 2015
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
£'000 £°000 £'000 £000
Asset backed financing 33,833 32,032 24,677 23,030
Bank borrowings 7,531 5,254 - -
The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using the prevailing rates.
Borrowings have the following maturity profile:
2016 2015
£000 £'000
6 months or less 57,484 13,770
6 — 12 months 20,246 12,930
1-5years 36,340 24,677
Over 5 years 5,024 -
119,094 51,377

The Group has access to banking facilities amounting to £120,000,000 represented by a revolving credit facility of £95,000,000
{of which £35,000,000 was drawn at 31 December 2016} and an overdraft facility of £25,000,000 {of which £12,707,000 was
drawn at 31 December 2016). These facilities are available for general corporate purposes including acquisitions or working capital
requirements. Interest is chargeable on the amounts drawn under the facilities at between 1.2% and 2.0% above LIBOR. The
facilities are secured by cross guarantees granted by the certain members of the Group. The facility is available untii 25 August
2019.The Group is also abie to extend the term of the facility by up to 12 months. More information in respect of principal risk
management 15 provided in note 235.
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23. Provisions

Onerous
leases and
vacant
Tax Closed sites Dilapidations property Total
£’000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
At 1 January 2016 - 122 649 280 1,051
Acquired provisions 4,242 12 310 482 5,026
Charged to income statement
in the year - 194 450 428 1,072
Utilised during the year - (133) (315} (9) (457)
As at 31 December 2016 4,242 195 1,094 1,161 6,692
Provisions have been allocated between current and nen-current as below.
2016 2015
£'000 £000
Current 5,242 762
Non-current 1,450 289
6,692 1,051

Tax

As described in note 12, the tax provisicn above relates to tax liabilities for film tax planning initiatives which were acquired
with Ridgeway

Closed sites

The Group manages its portfolio carefully and either closes or sells sites which no longer fit with the Group's strategy. When sites
are closed or sold provisions are made for any residual costs or commitments,

Dilapidations

The Group operates from a number of leasehoid premises under full repairing leases. The provision recognises that repairs are
required to put the buildings back into the state of repair required under the ieases.

Onerous leases and vacant property

Where property commitments exist at sites which are closed or closing the Group provides for the unavoidable cost of those leases
post closure.

24, Deferred tax

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as below.

2016 2015
£000 £'000
Deferred tax assets:
— Deferred tax asset ag 58
Deferred 1ax liabilities:
~ Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months (2015 restated) (20,803) (4,324}
Deferred tax liabilities (net) (20,767) (4,266)
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24. Deferred tax (continued)

The gross movement on the deferred tax account is as below.

At 1 January

Deferred tax arising on IFRS conversion of acquisition (note 12) (2015 restated)

Deferred tax acquired

Income statement charge {ncte 9)
Credited directly to equity

At 31 December

2016 2015
£'000 £'000
(4,266) (1,689)
(17.373) (3.342)
(563) (136)
1,547 819
(82) 82
(20,767) (4,266)

The movemnent in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances

withirnt the same tax jurisdiction, is as below.

Deferred tax liabilities

At 1 January 2015

Charged to the income statement

impact of corporation tax rate reduction

Acquisition of subsidiaries {note 12) (2015 restated)
At 31 December 2015

Charged/(credited) to the income statement

Impact of corporation tax rate reduction

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 12)

At 31 December 2016

Deferred tax assets

At 1 January 2015

Credited/(charged) fo the income statement
Impact of corporation tax rate reduction
Credited directly to equity

Acquisition of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2015

Credited/(charged) to the income statement
Impact of corporation tax rate reduction
Charged/{credited) directly to equity
Acquisition of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2016

Accelerated Fair
tax value
depreciation gains Other Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £°000
- 53 2,734 2,787
- (53) 735 682
- - 271) (271}
- - 3,342 3,342
- - 6,540 6,540
- - (122) (122)
- - (1,471) (1.471)
- - 17,373 17,373
. - 22,320 22,320
Accelerated Fair
tax value
depreciation gains Other Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
845 94 159 1,098
837 {31) 473 1,279
(36) (8) (8) (49)
- - 82 82
(136) - - (136}
1,510 58 706 2,274
3 (16) (264) 61
(112) (6) (19) (137)
- - (82) (82
(852) - 289 (563)
887 36 630 1,553
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Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss as carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the refated tax benefit
through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of £263,000 (2015: £359,000}
in respect of losses amounting to £1,549,000 {2015: £1,887 ,000) that can be carried forward against future taxable income. These
losses do not have an expiry date.

25. Financial instruments — risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in debt market prices and interest
rates. The Group's treasury management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.

The Board adopts an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group.
Market risk — cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings, which are issued at various rates that expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. The Group's borrowings are denominated in sterling.

The interest rate exposure of the Group is managed within the constraints of the Group's business plan and the financial covenants
under its facilities.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and deposits with banks as well as credit exposures to customers. Individual customer risk limits are
set based on external credit reference agency ratings and the utilisation of these credit limits is regularly monitored. Further
disclosure on credit exposure is given in note 19,

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk rests with the Board of Directors, which has buit an appropriate fiquidity risk management
framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The
Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Disclosed within
note 22 are the undrawn banking facilities that the Group has at its disposal in order to further reduce liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group's financiat liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
balance sheet date to confractual maturity date. The amounts disciosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
All borrowings are denominated in sterling.

Less than  Greater than

one year one year Total

£000 £°000 £'000

Borrowings (note 22} 77,730 41,364 119,094
Trade and other payables

{excluding other taxes and social security) 493,739 7.462 501,201

At 31 December 2016 571,469 48,826 620,295
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25. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)

Less than  Greater than

one year one year Total

£000 £000 £'000

Borrowings {note 22) 26,700 246877 51377
Trade and other payadies

{excluding other taxes and social security) 257,849 8,269 266,188

At 31 December 2015 284,549 32,946 317,495

Capital risk management

The Group's primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,

The Group must ensure that sufficient capital resources are available for working capital requirements and meeting principal and
interest payment obligations as they fall due.

Consistent with others in this industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, which is calculated as adjusted
ret debt divided by total capital. Adjusted net debt is caiculated as total borrowings, excluding asset backed finance within the
teasing segment {including current and non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated batance sheet) less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as total shareholders’ equity

The Group had adjusted net debt of £54 488,000 at 31 December 2016 as disclosed in the Net debt reconciliation (2015: Net
cash of £24,130,000).

Financial instruments by category

The table below analyses financial instruments by type. All such financial assets and liabilities are carried at amortised cost. For
all financial assets and liabilities fair value equals carrying value except for iong term borrowings as disclosed in note 22.

2016 2015
£'000 £'000
Group assels
Assets as per the balance sheet
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments (note 19) 84,661 38,183
Cash and cash equivalents (note 20) 83 24,130
Total 84,744 62,323
Group liabilities
Liabilities as per the balance sheet
Borrowings (note 22} 119,094 51,377
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities (note 21) 501,201 268,590
Total 620,295 319,967
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25. Financial instruments — risk management (continued)

Credit quality of financial assets

2016 2015
£000 £'000
Counterparties without external credit rating
Group 1 701 133
Group 2 83,860 38,060
Total unimpaired trade receivables 84,661 38,193
Cash at bank and short-term bank deposits
A (Negative)* g3 24,130
" Standard & Poor's rating (long term)
Group 1 — new customers/related parties {less than 6 months).
Group 2 — existing customers/related parties {more than 6 months} with no defaults in the past.
26. Called up share capital and share premium
Ordinary Share
Number shares premium Total
of shares £'000 £000 £'000
At 1 January 2015 2,250,000 2,250 - 2,250
Issued 27 March 2015 30,000,000 30,000 - 30,000
Subdivision 18,140,625 - - -
Issued 2 April 2015 26,845,638 17,181 19,672 36,853
At 31 December 2015 77,236,263 49,431 19,672 69,103
I1ssued 27 May 2016 156,599 100 - 100
At 31 December 2016 77,392,862 49,531 19,672 69,203

On 27 March 2015 30 miilion ordinary shares of 100p each were issued at par and subsequently the entire share capital of the
company was subdivided into 50,390,625 ordinary shares of 64p each.

On 2 April 2015 26,845,638 new ordinary shares of 64p each were issued at 149p each. The premium arising on issue is shown
net of transaction costs amounting to £3.1 million.

On 27 May 2016 156,599 ordinary shares of 64p each were issued as part of the IPO Restricted share option scheme.

All shares issued are fully paid.
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Share option schemes

Under the Company's equity settled share option scheme, share options may be granted to executive Directors and selected
employees and grants were made on Admission of the Company to AIM and during the year to 31 December 2016. Share options
comprise IPO Performance Awards, IPO Restricted Share Awards and 2016 Performance Awards. The extent of vesting of awards
granted to executive Directors of the Company (other than an IPO Restricted Share Award) will be subject to performance conditions
set by the Remuneration Committee. The extent of vesting of awards granted to other participants may be subject to performance
conditions set by the Remuneration Committee.

The weighted average remaining period until expiry for the awards outstanding at 31 December 2016 is 8.6 years (2015: 9.3 years).

The fair value of nil cost awards granted under both the 1PO Performance Awards and IPO Restricted Awards is the market value
of the related shares at the time of grant.

The weighted average fair value at 31 Decernber 2016 is £1.65 (2015: £1.49)
All options issued are nil cost awards anc therefore there is no range of weighted average exercise price, as all are nil.

As at 31 December 2018, outstanding share options under the IPO Performance Awards and 2016 Performance Awards were
as below.

No of shares

over which Date from
options are Exercise which Expiry
Award date outstanding price exercisable date
2 Aprii 2015 1,406,040 Nil 2 April 2018 2 April 2025
13 June 2016 660,801 Nil 13 June 2020 13 June 2028
2016 2016 2015 2015
No. WAEP No. WAEP
2016 Performance Award
Outstanding as at 1 January - - - -
Granted during the year 675,364 - - -
Forfeited during the year (14,563} - - -
OQutstanding as at 31 December 660,801 - - -
2016 2016 2015 2015
No. WAEP No. WAEP
PO Performance Award
Qutstanding as at 1 January 1,459,730 - - -
Granted during the year - - 1,486,575 -
Forfeited during the year (53,690} - (26,845) -
Qutstanding as at 31 December 1,406,040 - 1,459,730 -

Exercisable as at 31 December - - - -

The performance condition applying to the IPO Performance Awards and 2016 Performance Awards is based on the growth in the
Company's underlying basic Earnings Per Share (EPS). In respect of IPO Performance Awards 25% will vest for achieving growth
in underlying basic EPS of CPI plus 4% per annum increasing on a straight line basis up to 100% vesting for achieving growth of
CPI pius 10% per annum between 2014 and 2017. 50% of the IPO Performance Awards vest on the third anniversary of Admission
and the remaining 50% vest on the fourth anniversary subject to continued employment. In respect of the 2016 Performance
Awards 25% will vest for achieving underlying basic EPS of CPI plus 3% per annum increasing on a straight line basis up to 100%
vesting for achieving CP1 plus 8% per annum between 2016 and 2018, A 12 month holding period applies to the 2016 Performance

Awards.
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As at 31 Decemnber 2016, outstanding share options under the PO Restricted Share Awards were as below.

No of shares

over which Date from
options are Exercise which Expiry
Award date outstanding price exercisable date
2 April 2015 313,199 Nil 2 April 2016 2 April 2025
2016 2016 2015 2015
No. WAEP No. WAEP

IPO Restricted Share Award

Outstanding as at 1 January 469,798 - - -
Granted during the year - - 469,798 -
Exercised (156,599) - - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 313,199 - 469,798 -

Exercisable as at 31 December - - - -

The IPO Restricted Share Awards vest in three equal tranches on the first, second and third anniversaries of Admission.

The fair value of options granted during the year was £2.06 (2015; £1.49). The fair value of equity settled share options granted
was based on market value on 13 June 2016 when the share options were granted.

A share based payment charge of £1,313,000 (2015: £556,000) has been recognised during the period.

See note 8 of the Company conly financial statements on page 100 for further details of the share option schemes.
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27. Commitments and contingencies

Cperating lease commitments

The Group, as lessee, has non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease terms vary and the majority of lease agreements
are renewable at the end of the lease period at market rate.

The lease expenditure charged to the income statement during the year is disclosed in note 4.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are set out below.

20186 2015

£000 £'000

Within 4 year 11,494 7,804
Later than 1 year and less than 5 years 40,909 29,206
After § years 72578 62,031
124,981 99,041

28. Related party transactions

Key management compensation is given in note 7.

Details of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

During 2015 and 2016 the Directors were members of a car purchase loan scheme under which the following transactions were
made in the year. The Directors purchased 14 cars in 2016 (2015: 15) at a price of £983,000 (2015: £1,043,000) and sold back
14 (2015: 13) at a price of £994,000 (2015: £899,000).

The following table shows the aggregate transactions with companies within Marshall of Cambridge {(Holdings) Limited other than
those of Marshall Motor Holdings ple.

Year-end
Sales Purchases balance
2016 £'000 £'000 £'000
Entities with significant influence over the entity
Marshall of Cambridge (Hoidings) Limited 83 337 (24)
Other related parties
Marshall of Cambridge Aerospace Limited 106 315 (78)
Marshall Thermo King Limited 695 28 7
Marshall Fleet Solutions Limited - 13 -
Marshall Group Properties Limited 134 1,312 -
Aeropeople Limited 7 - -
Marshall Land Systems Limited 31 - -
1,056 2,005 (95}
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Year-end
Sales Purchases balance
2015 £000 £'000 £000
Entities with significant influence over the entity
Marshail of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited 70 1,127 (110)
Other related parties
Marshall of Cambridge Aerospace Limited 112 490 {59)
Marshall Thermo King Limited 538 3 34
Marshall Fleet Solutions Limited - 19 (8)
Marshall Group Properties Limited 402 1,700 (147)
Aeropeople Limited 14 - .
Marshall Land Systems Limited 42 - -
Marshall Specialist Vehicles Limited 18 - -
MGPH Limited 10 158 (55)
1,206 3,497 (345)

29. Pensions
Post-employment benefits

As detailed in accounting policy note 1, the Group accounts for all of its pension contributions as if they were part of a defined
contribution scheme.

The actuarial valuation for the defined benefit section of the Marshall Group Executive Pension Plan reveated a deficit on a technical
provisions basis of £1.5 million as at 31 December 2013. Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited has paid all of its contributions
(£1.24 million) as at 31 December 2016 under the current recovery plan. The contributions by Marshail Motor Holdings plc to this
plan during 2016 were £nil (2015: £41,000).

The next actuarial valuation of the Marshall Group Executive Plan is expected as at 31 December 2G16. The extent of any future
cash contributions by the Group will then be considered.

In line with the disclosure requirements of 1AS 19, for group schemes where there is no contractual agreement for charging the
net defined benefit cost between individual companies the information below details information about the defined benefit section
of the Marshall Group Executive Plan. The information in the note that follows will be included in the 2016 Annual Report of
Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited. These are disclosure items only and are not refiected in the Staterment of Financial
Position of Marshall Motor Holdings pilc.
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29. Pensions (continued)

Balance sheet obligations

— Fair value of assets at end of year

- Present value of obligations at end of year

— Deficit at 31 December 2016

Defined pension benefits
— Related deferred 1ax asset
Liability in the balance sheet

Income staterment charge inciuded in operating profit

— For defined pension benefits

2016 2015 2014 2013
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
36,975 34,546 34,119 32,005
(54,485) (46,062} (46,968) (39,961}
(17,510) (11,516} (12.849) (7,956}
2977 2,073 2,570 1,591
(14,533) (9,443) (10,279) {6,365)
(947) (858) 741 (818)
(947) {858) (741) (818)

Marshali of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited operates the Plan which has a section which provides defined benefits to members in
the form of a guaranteed ievel of pension payable for life. The level of benefits provided depends on members’ length of service
and their salary in the final years leading up 1o retirement. In the Plan, pensions in payment are generally updated in line with the
retail price index. The board of frustees must be composed of representatives of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited and
plan participants in accordance with the Trust Deed and Rules and legislation.

The significant actuarial assumptions were as set out below.

Discount Rate

RPI inflation

CPl inflation

Salary Growth Rate

Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 0%, max 5%
Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 3%

Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 2.7%, max 5%
Pension Growth Rate — RP! min 0%, max 8.5%
Post retirement mortality

Post retirement improvements

Discount Rate

RPI Inflation

CPI Inflation

Satary Growth Rate

Pension Growth Rate — RP| min 0%, max 5%
Pension Growth Rate ~ RPI min 3%

Pension Growth Rate — RP1 min 2.7%, max 5%
Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 0%, max 8.5%
Post retirement mortality

Post retirement improvements

2016
2.54%
3.31%
2.31%
3.06%
321%
3.36%
331%
3.31%

73%S1PXA

CMI 2013 table with 1.25% p.a.
and 1.0% p.a. long term improvement

trend for males and females
respectively (rebased to 2008)

2014
3.50%
3.16%
1.896%
2.90%
3.16%
3.29%
3.21%
3.16%

73%S1PXA

CMI 2013 table with 1.25% p.a.
and 1.0% p.a. long term improvement

trend for males and females
respectively (rebased to 2008)

2015
3.60%
3.00%
2.00%
2.80%
3.00%
3.35%
3.21%
3.00%

73%STPXA

CMI 2013 table with 1.25% p.a.
and 1.0% p.a. long term improvement

trend for maies and females
respectively (rebased to 2008)

2013

4.50%

3.33%

2.13%

3.74%

3.33%

3.41%

3.35%

3.33%

73%S1PXA

CMI 2013 table with 1.0% p.a.
long term improvement
trend (rehased to 2008)
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29, Pensions (continued)

Plan assets are comprised as foliows:

2016

UK Equities

Overseas Equities

Property

Liability Driven Investments
Dynamic Asset Allocation
Cash and Net Current Assets
Insured Pensions

Total

2015

UK Equities

Overseas Equities

Property

Liability Driven Investments
Pynamic Asset Allocaticon
Cash and Net Current Assets
Insured Pensions

Total

2014

UK Equities

Overseas Equities

Property

Liabitity Driven Investments
Dynarmic Asset Allocation
Cash and Net Current Assets
Insured Pensions

Total

2013

UK Equities

Overseas Equities

Property

Liability Driven Investments
Dynamic Asset Allocation
Cash and Net Current Assets
Insured Pensions

Total

Quoted Unquoted Total
£'000 £°000 £'000 %
5,320 - 5,320 14
12,216 - 12,218 33
6,850 - 6,850 19
4,311 - 4,311 12
5,860 - 5,860 18
120 - 120 -
- 2,298 2,298 6
34,677 2,298 36,975 100%
Quoted Unquoted Total
£'000 £'000 £°000 %
4,737 - 4,737 14
10,165 - 10,165 30
7,159 - 7,159 21
4,280 - 4,280 12
5,895 - 5,895 17
129 - 129 -
- 2,181 2,181 6
32,365 2,181 34,546 100%
Quoted Unquoted Total
£'000 £000 £°000 %
9,871 - 9,871 29
5,041 - 5,041 15
6,543 - 6,543 19
4,223 - 4,223 12
5,997 - 5,997 18
155 - 155 -
- 2,289 2,289 7
31,830 2,289 34,119 100%
Quoted Unquoted Total
£000 £000 £'000 Yo
9,335 - 9,335 29
4,408 - 4,406 14
5713 - 5713 18
4,478 - 4,478 14
5,889 - 5,889 18
- 2,232 2,232 7
29,821 2,232 32,053 100%
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29. Pensions (continued)

Through the defined benefit pension plan, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detalled
below:

Asset volatility The Plan holds 80% growth assets and these will not provide a hedge to the moverment in the discount rate.
Consequently, the difference in the values of the assets and liabilities will be quite volatile. Similarly returns
on scheme assets will be affected by changes in gilt yields.

Inflation risk The majority of benefits are iinked to inflation and so increases in inflation will lead to higher liabilites (although
in most cases there are caps in place which protect against extreme inflation).

Life expectancy Increases in life expectancy will increase plan liabilities, the inflation linkage of the benefits also means that
inflationary increases result in a higher sensitivity to increases in life expectancy.

30. Ultimate parent company

The parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which group financial statements are drawn up and of which the
Company is a member is Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited. This is both the immediate parent undertaking and the ultimate
parent undertaking. In light of its aggregate shareholding in the capital of the Company, Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited
has entered into a relationship agreement in order to regulate the relationship between it and the Company and enable the
Company to act independently of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings} Limited and its affiliates.

Copies of the group financial statements for Marshall of Cambridge {Holdings) Limited can be obtained from Airport House, The
Airport, Cambridge, CB5 8RY.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note £'000 £7000
Fixed assets
Investments 3 163,194 54,084
Current assets
Debtors 4 7,104 18,543
Cash at bank and in hand 1,329 19,638
8,433 38,181
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 6 (82,753} (7,992)
Net current {liabilities)/assets (74,320} 30,189
Net assets 88,874 84,273
Capital and reserves
Called-up equity share capital 7 49,531 49,431
Share premium 19,672 19,672
Profit and loss account 19,671 15,170
Shareholders’ funds 88,874 84,273

No profit and loss account is presented by the Company, as permitted under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The profit
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 was £6,539,000 {(2015: £21,951,000).

The financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 14 March 2017

M.D. Raban A
Director M D € j

14 March 2047
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Note
At 1 January 2015
Loss for the financial year
Dividends received
Total comprehensive income for the year

Equity dividends paid 9

New shares issued
Share based payment charge
At 31 December 2015

Loss for the financial year
Dividends received

Total comprehensive income for the year

Equity dividends paid 9

New shares issued

Share based payment charge 8

At 31 December 2016

Profit
Share Share and loss
capital premium account Total
£:000 £000 £000 £°000
2,250 - 8111 10,361
- - {(3,049) (3,049)
- - 25,000 25,000
- - 21,951 21,951
- - {15,448) {15,448)
47,181 19,672 - 66,853
- - 556 556
49,431 19,672 15,170 84,273
- - (5,961) {5,961
- - 12,500 12,500
- - 6,539 6,539
- - (3,257) {3.251)
100 - (100) -
- - 1,313 1,313
49,531 19,672 19,671 88,874
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1. Basis of preparation & statement of compliance

Marshall Motor Holdings pic is a Public Limited Company incorporated in England. The registered office is Airport House, The
Airport, Cambridge, CBS 8RY. The parent company financial staternents have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102, the
Financial Repaorting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland.

The financiai statements are prepared in sterling which is the presentational and functiona! currency of the company and rounded
to the nearest £'000.

The company accounts have aiso adopted the following disclosure exemptions as permitted by FRS 102:

—  Presentation of a cash-flow statement and related notes
—~  Financial instrument-related disclosures
— Key management personnel compensation disclosures

The Company is part of the consolidated financia! statements of Marshall Motor Holdings pic,

The auditors’ remuneration for audit and other services was £3,000 (2015: £3,000).

2. Accounting policies
Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost less any impairment. Impairments are recognised directly through profit and
loss.

Share based payments

The Company alfows employees to acquire shares in the Company through share option schemes. The fair value of share options
granted is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The Company operates a number of
equity settled, share based compensation plans. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting year is determined by reference
to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statements with a corresponding adjustment to equity,

Taxation

Current tax is recognised for the amount of income tax payabie in respect of the taxable profit for the current or past reporting
pericds using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences at the reporting date, except as otherwise indicated.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred
tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

If and when all conditions for retaining tax allowances for the cost of a fixed asset have been met, the deferred tax is reversed.

A deferred tax liability or asset is recognised for the additional tax that wilt be paid or avoided in respect of assets and liabilities
that are recognised in @ business combination. The amount atiributed to goodwill is adjusted by the amount of deferred tax
recognised.

Deferred tax is calculated without discounting using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date that are expected to apply to the reversai of the timing difference.

With the exception of changes arising on the initial recognition of a business combination, the tax expense/(income) is presented
either in the income staternent, other comprehensive income or equity depending on the transaction that resuited in the tax

expense/(income).
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments

The company has non-derivative financial instruments comprising trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans
and borrowings and trade and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. The company has no non-derivative financial instruments
measured at fair value.

PRividend distribution

Final dividends to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid.

Deferred tax liabilities are presented within provisions for liabilities and deferred tax assets within debtors. Deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities are offset only if:

-~ the company has a legaily enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and

— the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

3. Investments

Subsidiary
undertakings
£'000

Cost
At 1 January 2016 54,084
Additions 109,110
At 31 December 2016 163,194

The Company owns directly or indirectly the whole of the issued and fully paid ordinary share capital of the following subsidiary
undertakings.

Additions in the period include £2,163,000 of acquisition costs which have been capitalised.

Country of

Name of Undertaking
Marshall Motor Group Limited

Marshall of Cambridge (Garage Properties) Limited

Marshall Leasing Limited
Gates Contract Hire Limited

Tim Brinton Cars Limited* (reg no. 01041301)

Marshall of Ipswich Limited™™

Marshall of Peterborough Limited™*

S.G. Smith Holdings Limited

S.G. Smith Automotive Limited* {reg no. 00622112}

S.G. Smith (Motors) Limited* (reg no. 00287379)

S.G. Smith (Motors) Beckenham Limited* (reg no. 00648395}
S.G. Smith (Motors) Forest Hill Limited* {reg no. 00581710}
S.G. Smith {Motors) Crown Point Limited* (reg no. 00581711}
$.G. Smith (Motors) Sydenham Limited* (reg no. 00660066)
S.G. Smith {Motors) Croydon Limited

S.G. Smith Trade Parts Limited* (reg no. 01794317)

incorporation

England and Wales
England ang Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

Principal activity
Franchised motor dealership
Property holding

Motor vehicle leasing
Dormant

Property holding

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Holding company

Holding company

Property holding

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Motor parts sales
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3. Investments (continued)

Name of Undertaking
Prep-Peint Limited* (reg no. 00660067)

Marshall of Stevenage Limited™*

Marshall Cormmercial Venicles Limited

Marshall North West Limited

Marshali of Scunthorpe Limited” (reg no. 01174004)
Silver Street Automotive Limited

Exeter Trade Parts Specialists LLP* (reg no. OC329331}
Audi South West Limited

Hanjo Russell Limited

CMG 2007 Limited* (reg no. 06275636)

Astle Limited* (reg no. 01114983)

Crystal Motor Group Limited” (reg no. 04813767)
Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited

Pentagon Limited

Pentagon South West Limited

Ridgeway TPS Limited

Ridgeway Bavarian Limited

Wood in Hampshire Limited

Wood of Salisbury Limited

Country of
incorporation

England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England ang Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

Principal activity
Maintenance and

repair of motor vehicles
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Franchised moter dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Motor parts sales

Dormant

Dormant

Holding company
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Motor parts sales
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Dormant

The registered office for all subsidiary companies listed above is Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge, CB5 8RY. All listed
subsidiaries are included within the Group consolidation on pages 50 to 93,

* subsidiaries for which exemption from audit by virtue of s478A of the Companies Acf 2006 has been taken for the year ended

31 December 2016.
** these subsidiaries are §9% owned by the Group.

4. Debtors

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by Group undertakings
Other debtors

VAT

Prepayments and accrued income
Deferred tax asset (note 5}

2016 2015
£000 £000
1 .
6,219 17,470
252 700
10 54
310 197
312 122
7,104 18,543

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are unsecured, bear no interest and have no fixed repayment date.
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5. Deferred taxation

2016 2015
£'000 £'000
At 1 January 122 -
Changes in provision 190 122
At 31 December 312 122
The balance of the deferred tax asset consists of the tax effect of the timing differences in respect of:
2016 2015
£'000 £'000
Other timing differences 312 122
Total deferred tax (note 4) 312 122
6. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
2016 2015
£000 £000
Bank loan 35,000 -
Trade creditors 56 24
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 45,224 2,478
Corperation tax 1,765 1,965
Other taxes and social security 59 58
Other creditors 6 2,517
Accruals and deferred income 643 950
82,753 7,892

The bank loan of £35,000,000 relates to a drawdown of the revolving credit facility as described in note 22 of the Group Financial
Statements.

7. Share capital

2016 2015

£°000 £'000

77,392,862 (2015:77,236,263) ordinary shares of 64p each 49,531 49,431
20186 2015

Ordinary shares £°000 £'000
At 1 Januaty 48,431 2,250
Issued on 27 March 2015 - 30,000
tssued on 2 April 2015 - 17,181
Issued on 27 May 2016 100 -
49,531 49,431

On 27 March 2015, 30 million ordinary shares of 100p each were issued at par and subsequently the entire share capital of the
Company was subdivided into 50,390,625 ordinary shares of 64p each.

On 2 April 2015 26,845,638 new ordinary shares of 64p each were issued at 149p each. The premium arising on issue is shown
net of transaction costs amounting to £3.1 million.

On 27 May 2016 156,599 ordinary shares of 84p each were issued as part of the IPO Restricted share option scheme.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
8. Share-based payments

Under the Company's equity settled share option scheme, share options are granted to executive Directors and to selected
empioyees and were granted on admission of the Company to AIM. The extent of vesting awards granted to executive Directors
of the Company (other than the IPO Restricted Share Award) will be subject to performance conditions set by the remuneration
committee. The extent of vesting of awards granted to other participants may be subject to performance conditions set by the
Remuneration Committee.

The weighted average remaining period unti! expiry for the awards cutstanding at 31 December 2016 is 8.6 years (2015; 9.3 years).

The fair value of nil cost awards granted under both the IPO Performance Awards and IPO Restricted Awards is the market value
of the related shares at the time of grant.

The weighted average fair value at 31 December 2016 is £1.65 (2015: £1.49)

All options issued are nil cost awards and therefore there is no range of weighted average exercise price, as all are nil.
2016 Performance Award

The performance condition applying to the 2016 Performance Awards is based on the growth in the Company's underlying basic
Earnings Per Share (EPS). 25% will vest for achieving growth in underiying basic EPS of CPI plus 3% per annum increasing on
a straight line basis up to 100% vesting for achieving growth of CPI plus 8% per annum between 2016 and 2018. A 12 month
holding period applies to the 2016 Performance Awards.

IPO Performance Award

The performance condition applied to the IPO Performance Award will be based on the growth in the Company’s underlying basic
earnings per share from 2014 to 2017. 25% of each IPC Performance Award will vest for achieving growth in adjusted earnings
per share of CP| plus 4% per annum increasing on a straight-line basis up to 100% vesting for achieving growth in adjusted
earnings per share of CPI plus 10% per annum. 50% of the IPO Performance Award vest on the third anniversary of Admission
and the remaining 50% vest on the fourth anniversary subject to continued employment. The contractual life of the option is
10 years and there are no cash settlement alternatives.

IPO Restricted Share Award
The 1PO Restricted Share Award vests in three equal tranches on the first, second and third anniversaries of Admission.
The expense recognised for share-based payments in respect of employee services received during the year to 31 December

2016 is £1,313,000 (2015: £556,000).

The following tables illustrate the number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options during
the year.

2016 2016 2015 2015
No. WAEP No. WAEP
2016 Performance Award
Qutstanding as at 1 January - - - -
Granted during the year 675,364 - - .
Forfeited during the year {14,563) - - -
Qutstanding as at 31 December 660,801 - - -
2018 2018 2015 2015
No. WAEP No. WAEP
IPQ Performance Award
Outstanding as at 1 January 1,459,730 - - -
Granted during the year - - 1,486,575 -
Forfeited during the year (53,6920) - (26,845) -
Outstanding as at 31 December 1,406,040 - 1,459,730 -

Exercisable as at 31 December - - - .

100
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
8. Share-based payments (continued)

2016 2016 2015 2015
No. WAEP No. WAEP

{PO Restricted Share Award
QOutstanding as at 1 January 469,798 - - -
Granted during the year - - 469,798 -
Exercised (156,599) - - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 313,199 - 469,798 -

Exercisable as at 31 December - - - -

The fair value of options granted during the year was £2.06 (2015: £1.49). The fair value of equity settled share options granted
was based on market value on 13 June 2016 when the share options were granted.

9. Dividends

2016 2015
£'000 £000
Paid during the year
Final dividend for 2014 - 15,000
Interim dividend for 2015 - 448
Final dividend for 2015 1,858 -
Interim dividend for 2016 1,393 -

A final dividend of £15,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2014 was paid in March 2015 before Admission representing a
payment of 666.67p per ordinary share in issue and 426.67p per share after adjustment to reflect the impact of the sub-division
of shares described in note 7.

A final dividend of £1,858,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015 was paid in March 2016. This represented a payment of
2.40p per ordinary share in issue at that time.

An interirm dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of £1,393,000 representing a payment of 1.80p per ordinary
share in issue at that time was paid on 23 September 2016. An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015
of £448,000 representing a payment of G.58p per ordinary share in issue at that time was paid on 25 September 2015.

A final dividend of 3.70p per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 is to be proposed at the annual general meeting
on 23 May 2017. The ex-dividend date will be 20 April 2017 and the associated record date will be 21 Aprii 2017. This dividend
will be paid subject shareholder approvat on 26 May 2017 and these financial statements do not reflect this final dividend payable.

10. Transactions with related parties

The Company has taken advantage of exemption, under the terms of Section 33 of FRS 102, not to disclose related party
transactions with subsidiaries within the Group

The parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which group financial statements are drawn up and of which the
Company is a member is Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited and is therefore considered to be the ultimate parent company.

Copies of the group financial statements for Marshall of Cambridge {Holdings) Limited can be obtained from Airpert House, The
Airport, Cambridge, CB5 8RY.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting (the "AGM"} Marshall Motor Holdings Ple (the “Company™) will be held at
Airport House, the Airport, Cambridge CB5 8RY on 23 May 2017 at 11.00 a.m. for the following purposes of considering and, if
thought fit, passing the following resolutions which will ail be proposed as ordinary resolutions:

1. Report and accounts
To receive the audited annual accounis of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 together with the directors’ reports
and the auditors’ report on those annual accounts.

2. Declaration of dividend
To declare a final dividend of 3.70p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2016 payable on 26 May 2017 o
shareholders who are on the register of members of the Company on 21 April 2017.

3. Re-appointment of director
To re-appoint Peter Jonson as a director, who retires by rotation in accordance wit the Company’s articles of association and offers
himself for reappointment.

4. Re-appointment of director
To re-appoint Christopher Walkinshaw as a director, who, having been appointed since the last annual general meeting of the
Company, retires in accordance with the Company's articles of association and offers himself for reappointment.

5. Re-appointment of auditors
To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of the Company to hold office from the conclusion of this Annual General Meeting
until the conctusion of the next general mesting at which accounts are laid before the Company.

6. Awuditors’ remuneration
To authorise the directors to determine the remuneration of the auditors.

Dated 20 March 2017 Registered Office:
rder of the Board Airport House

________ The Airport
%en Jones Cambridge

Company Secretary CBS5 8RY
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Notes

1.

Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Reguiations 2001 {as amended), only those members registered
in the register of members of the Company at close of business on 19 May 2017 (or if the AGM is adjourned at close of
business, two working days before the time fixed for the adjourned AGM) shall be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM in
respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. Any changes to the register of members after such time
shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any persen to attend or vote at the AGM.

If you wish to attend the AGM in person, you should make sure that you arrive at the venue for the AGM in good time before
the commencement of the meeting. You may be asked to prove your identity in order to gain admission.

In the case of joint holders of shares, the vote of the first named in the register of members who tenders a vote, whether in
person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of other joint holders.

A member that is a company or other organisation not having a physical presence cannot attend in person but can appoint
someone to represent it. This can be done in one of two ways: Either by the appeintment of a proxy (described in Note &
below) or of a corporate representative. Members considering the appointment of a corporate representative shoutd check
their own legal position, the Company's articles of association and the relevant provision of the Companies Act 2006.

Copies of the executive directors’ service contracts with the Cormpany and any of its subsidiary undertakings are available for
inspection at the registered office of the Company during the usual business hours on any weekday (Saturday, Sunday or
public holidays excluded) from the date of this notice until the conclusion of the AGM and will also be available for inspection
at the place of the AGM from 9 a.m. on the day of the AGM until its conclusion.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST proxy appointment service may do so for the
Meeting (and any adjournment thereof) by following the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal
members or other CREST sponsored members (and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider)
should refer to their CREST sponscr or voting service provider, who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.
In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a
"CREST Proxy Instruction™) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s ("Euroclear”)
specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The
message (regardiess of whether it relates to the appointment of a proxy or to an amendment to the instruction given to a
previously appointed proxy) must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by Capita Registrars, RA10, by
11.00 a.m. on 19 May 2017. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp
applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which Capita Registrars is able to retrieve the message by
enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions to proxies appointed through
CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.

CREST members (and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers) should note that Euroclear does
not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal systemn timings and limitations will
therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned
to take (or if the CREST member is a CREST personat member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service
provider, to procure that his CREST sponsoer or voting service provider takes) such action as shall be necessary to ensure
that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members
{and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers) are referred, in particular, to those sections of the
CREST Manual (available at www.euroclearcom/CREST) concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)a) of the
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended).
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Company Information

Registered Office: Airport House
The Airport
Cambridge CB5 8RY
Company websites: www.mmhplc.com

www.marshall.co.uk
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Nominated Adviser and Broker: Investec Bank plc
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Auditors: Ernst & Young LLP
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